NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF THE STANDARDIZED EXTRACT OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ECA233 IN ROTENONE-INDUCED PARKINSON'S DISEASE MODEL



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmacology Inter-Department of Pharmacology Graduate School Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University

# ฤทธิ์ปกป้องประสาทของสารสกัดมาตรฐานบัวบก อีซีเอ233 ในแบบจำลองโรคพาร์กินสันที่เหนี่ยวนำ โดยโรตีโนน



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาเภสัชวิทยา สหสาขาวิชาเภสัชวิทยา บัณฑิตวิทยาลัย จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Thesis Title	NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF THE STANDARDIZED EX
	TRACT OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ECA233 IN ROTENONE-
	INDUCED PARKINSON'S DISEASE MODEL
Ву	Mr. Narudol Teerapattarakan
Field of Study	Pharmacology
Thesis Advisor	Assistant Professor RATCHANEE RODSIRI, Ph.D.
Thesis Co Advisor	Assistant Professor VARISA PONGRAKHANANON, Ph.D.

Accepted by the Graduate School, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

		Dean of the Graduate School
(As	ssociate Professor THUMNOON	NHUJAK, Ph.D.)
	2 Participant A	
DISSERTATION CO		
	<u>()</u>	Chairman
(As	ssistant Professor NAOWARAT S	UTHAMNATPONG, Ph.D.)
	23	Thesis Advisor
(As	ssistant Professor RATCHANEE R	ODSIRI, Ph.D.)
		Thesis Co-Advisor
(As	ssistant Professor VARISA PONG	RAKHANANON, Ph.D.)
		Examiner
(As	ssistant Professor WACHAREE LI	MPANASITHIKUL, Ph.D.)
		Examiner
(As	ssociate Professor SUREE JIANM	ONGKOL, Ph.D.)
		External Examiner
(As	ssistant Professor Yamaratee Ja	isin, Ph.D.)

นฤดล ธีรภัทรกานต์ : ฤทธิ์ปกป้องประสาทของสารสกัดมาตรฐานบัวบก อีซีเอ233 ในแบบจำลองโรคพาร์กินสันที่ เหนี่ยวนำโดยโรติโนน . (

NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF THE STANDARDIZED EXTRACT OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ECA233 IN RO TENONE-INDUCED PARKINSON'S DISEASE MODEL ) อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก : ผศ. ภญ. ดร.รัชนี รอดศิริ, อ.ที่ปรึกษา ร่วม : ผศ. ภญ. ดร.วริษา พงศ์เรขนานนท์

สารสกัดมาตรฐานบัวบก อีซีเอ233 ประกอบด้วยสารสำคัญ asiaticoside และ madecassoside การศึกษาก่อนหน้ารายงานฤทธิ์ทางเภสัช วิทยาของอีซีเอ233 โดยเฉพาะอย่างยิ่งการรักษาความผิดปกติของระบบประสาทส่วนกลาง วัตถุประสงค์ของการศึกษานี้คือเพื่อทดสอบฤทธิ์ปกป้องประสาท และกลไกการปกป้องประสาทของอีซีเอ233 ในหนแรทและในเซลล์ประสาท SH-SY5Y ที่เหนี่ยวนำให้เกิดความเป็นพิษด้วยโรติโนนที่เป็นแบบจำลองโรคพาร์ กินสัน การศึกษาในสัตว์ทดลอง ใช้หนุแรทเพศผ้สายพันธ์ Wistar โดยแบ่งหนุแรทออกเป็น 5 กลุ่ม ได้แก่ กลุ่มควบคม, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 และ PD-ECa100 วันที่ 1-20 หนูกลุ่มควบคุมและกลุ่ม PD จะป้อน 0.5% carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) ปริมาตร 1 มล./กก. ส่วนหนูกลุ่ม PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 และ PD-ECa100 จะได้รับอีซีเอ233 ขนาด 10, 30 และ 100 มก./กก. ตามลำดับ โดยการป้อนในวันที่ 15-20 หนูกลุ่ม PD และ PD-ECa จะได้รับโรตี โนนขนาด 2.5 มก./กก. ฉีดทางช่องท้อง ส่วนหนูกลุ่มควบคุมจะได้รับ 2% dimethlysulfoxide (DMSO) ฉีดทางช่องท้อง ทำการทดสอบพฤติกรรมการ เคลื่อนที่ ในวันที่ 1, 14, 17 และ 20 ในวันที่ 21 หนุทกตัวทำการทดสอบ apomorphine challence เมื่อสิ้นสุดการทดลองจะเก็บสมองของหนุเพื่อวิเคราะห์ เซลล์ประสาทโดปามีนในวิถีประสาท nigrostriatal การทำงานของไมโตคอนเดรีย complex I ระดับ malondialdehyde (MDA) การแสดงออกของเอนไซม์ superoxide dismutase (SOD) และ catalase ผลการทดลองแสดงให้เห็นว่าหนูกลุ่ม PD มีพฤติกรรมในการเคลื่อนที่ลดลง แต่การให้อีซีเอ233 (30 มก./ กก.) สามารถปกป้องความผิดปกติของการเคลื่อนที่ในหนูกลุ่ม PD-ECa30 ได้อย่างมีนัยสำคัญทางสถิติ (p<0.01) ในวันที่ 21 apomorphine ทำให้พฤติกรรม การเคลื่อนที่ดีขึ้น แสดงให้เห็นว่าโรดิโนนมีผลลดระดับโดปามีนในวิถีประสาท nigrostriatal อีซีเอ233 (30 มก./กก.) ปกป้องการตายของเซลล์ประสาทโดปา มีนในสมองส่วน substantia niera (p<0.001) และเพิ่มเส้นใยประสาทโดปามีนที่สมองส่วน striatum (p<0.001) นอกจากนี้อีซีเอ233 (30 มก./กก.) ลด ระดับ MDA ในสมอง (p<0.05) และเพิ่มการทำงานของไมโตคอนเดรีย complex I (p<0.05) การแสดงออกของเอนไซม์ SOD และ catalase (p<0.05) การทดลองในเซลล์ SH-SY5Y เพื่อศึกษากลไกการออกฤทธิ์ในระดับโมเลกุล โดยให้อีซีเอ233 (5, 10, 25, 50 และ 100 มคก./มล.) แก่เซลล์ SH-SY5Y เป็น เวลา 12 ชม. ตามด้วยโรติโนน 48 ชม. จากนั้นวัดการรอดชีวิตของเซลล์ ความต่างศักย์ของเยื่อหุ้มไมโตคอนเดรีย และการเกิด mitophagy ด้วยเทคนิค resazurin, tetramethylrhodamine, ethyl ester (TMRE) และ mitophagy dye ตามสำดับ การวัดระดับอนุมูลอิสระภายในเซลล์ด้วยเทคนิค dichlorodihydro-fluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) จะให้อีซีเอ233 แก่เซลล์ เป็นระยะเวลา 12 ชม. แล้วให้โรติโนน 6 หรือ 24 หรือ 48 ชม. การวัดการแสดงออก ของโปรตีนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับกระบวนการ autophagy และการตายของเซลล์แบบ apoptosis จะให้อีซีเอ233 แก่เซลล์เป็นเวลา 12 ซม. ตามด้วยโรติโนนเป็น เวลา 24 ชม. ผลการทดลองพบว่า อีซีเอ233 (10-100 มคก./มล.) เพิ่มการรอดชีวิตของเซลล์ เมื่อเปรียบเทียบกับกลุ่มที่ได้รับโรตีโนนเพียงอย่างเดียว (p<0.01) อีซีเอ233 (50-100 มคก./มล.) ลดระดับอนุมูลอิสระภายในเซลล์ที่ 24 ชม. หลังได้รับ rotenone (p<0.05) แต่ไม่พบผลดังกล่าวที่เวลา 6 และ 48 ชม. นอกจากนี้อีซีเอ233 (25-100 มคก./มล.) ปกป้องการลดลงของความต่างศักย์ของเยื่อหุ้มไมโตคอนเดรีย (p<0.01) และ mitophaey (p<0.05) ที่ เหนี่ยวนำโดยโรติโนน อีซีเอ233 (50-100 มคก./มล.) เพิ่มการแสดงออกของโปรตีนที่เกี่ยวข้องกับกระบวนการ autophaey ได้แก่ Beclin-1 และ LC3I/I (p<0.05) นอกจากนี้ชีเอ233 (25-100 มคก./มล.) เพิ่มการแสดงออกของ Bcl-2 (p<0.05) และลดสัดส่วนของ cleaved-caspase3/caspase3 (p<0.05) โดยสรุปอีซีเอ233 ปกป้องความเป็นพิษต่อเซลล์ประสาทที่ถูกเหนี่ยวนำโดยโรติโนนทั้งในสัตว์ทดลองและในหลอดทดลอง กลไกการปกป้องประสาท ของอีซีเอ233 ได้แก่ การปกป้องการทำงานของไมโตคอนเดรีย complex I ลดการเกิด lipid peroxidation เหนี่ยวนำเอนไซม์ต้านอนุมูลอิสระ ปกป้องเยื่อหุ้ม ไมโตคอนเดรีย เพิ่มกระบวนการ mitophaey และปกป้องการตายของเซลล์แบบ apoptosis จากผลการศึกษาแสดงให้เห็นว่าอีซีเอ233 มีศักยภาพที่จะพัฒนา เป็นยารักษาโรคพาร์กินสันในอนาคต

สาขาวิชา ปีการศึกษา เภสัชวิทยา 2561 ลายมือชื่อนิสิต ..... ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก ..... ลายมือชื่อ อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม .....

#### # # 5787784820 : MAJOR PHARMACOLOGY

KEYWORD:

Parkinson's disease, Centella asiatica, rotenone, mitochondria, mitophagy, rats, SH-SY5Y, ECa233 Narudol Teerapattarakan

NEUROPROTECTIVE EFFECTS OF THE STANDARDIZED EXTRACT OF CENTELLA ASIATICA ECA233 IN ROTENONE-

INDUCED PARKINSON'S DISEASE MODEL . Advisor: Asst. Prof. RATCHANEE RODSIRI, Ph.D. Co-advisor: Asst. Prof. VARISA PONGRAKHANANON, Ph.D.

The standardized extract of Centella asiatica ECa233 consists of asiaticoside and madecassoside. Previous studies reported various pharmacological effects of, ECa233, especially in the central nervous system disorders. The present study aimed to investigate the neuroprotective effects and protective mechanisms of ECa233 against rotenone-induced neurotoxicity in rats and in neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells. In animal study, male Wistar rats were divided into five experimental groups (n=10); control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-EC100. On days 1-20, control and PD rats received 0.5% carboxymethylcellulose (CMC) (1 mL/kg, p.o.) while ECa233 10, 30 and 100 mg/kg (p.o.) were given to PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-EC100, respectively. Rotenone (2.5 mg/kg, i.p.) was given to PD and PD-ECa groups on days 15-20 while controls received 2% Dimethylsulfoxide (DMSO) (i.p.) Locomotor activity was performed on days 1, 14, 17, and 20, and apomorphine challenge was tested on day 21. Brains were collected for further analysis of tyrosine hydroxylase (TH)-positive neurons in the nigrostriatal pathway, mitochondrial complex I activity, malondialdehyde (MDA) levels and superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase protein expression. The results showed that locomotor activity of rats was significantly reduced, while ECa233 (30 mg/kg) pretreatment significantly alleviated motor deficits in PD-ECa233 compared to PD rats on day 20 (p<0.01). On day 21, the locomotor deficit was responded to apomorphine challenge, suggesting dopamine depletion in the nigrostriatal pathway. ECa233 (30 mg/kg) protected against rotenone-induced dopaminergic neuronal loss in the substantia nigra (p<0.001) and preserved dopaminergic axonal fibers in the striatum (p<0.0001). ECa233 (30 mg/kg) also decreased brain MDA levels (p<0.05) while increased mitochondrial complex (activity (p<0.05) and SOD and catalase protein expression (p<0.05). To investigate the molecular mechanisms of ECa233, SH-SY5Y cells were treated with ECa233 (10, 25, 50, and 100 µg/mL) for 12 h, followed by rotenone for 48 h. Cell viability, mitochondrial membrane potential, and mitophagy were measured using resazurin assay, tetramethylrhodamine, ethyl ester (TMRE) assay, and mitophagy detection, respectively. To determine intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels by dichloro-dihydro-fluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) technique, cells were treated with ECa233 for 12 h followed by rotenone for either 6, 24 or 48 h. Autophagy and apoptosis-associated proteins were measured after 12 h ECa233 pretreatment followed by 24 h rotenone incubation. The results showed that ECa233 (10-100 µg/mL) significantly increased cell viability compared to rotenone-treated alone (p<0.01). ECa233 (50-100 µg/mL) decreased intracellular ROS levels in rotenone-treated cells at 24 (p<0.05), but not 6 and 48 h. In addition, ECa233 (25-100 µg/mL) prevented against rotenone-induced the reduction of mitochondrial membrane potential (p<0.01) and mitophagy (p<0.05). The expressions of autophagic-associated proteins, Beclin-1 and LC3II/I, were significantly increased in ECa233 (50-100 µg/mL) pretreatment groups (p<0.05). In addition, ECa233 (25-100 µg/mL) significantly increased Bcl-2 expression (p<0.05) while decreased cleaved-caspase-3/caspase-3 ratio (p<0.05). To summarize, ECa233 protects against rotenone-induced neurotoxicity in vivo and in vitro. The underlying neuroprotective mechanisms are mitochondrial complex I protection, lipid peroxidation reduction, induction of antioxidant enzymes, prevention of mitochondria membrane potential reduction, enhancing mitophagy, and prevention of neuronal apoptosis. Taken together, the current study suggests that ECa233 is a potential compound in drug development for the treatment of Parkinson's disease.

Field of Study:	Pharmacology	Student's Signature
Academic Year:	2018	Advisor's Signature
		Co-advisor's Signature

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Assistant Professor Dr. Ratchanee Rodsiri for the continuous support of my study and research, for her patience, motivation, and immense knowledge. Her guidance helped me in all the time of research. It has been a great learning experience and an opportunity to grow professionally. Without her support, I would never accomplish my degree.

I also would like to express my sincere gratitude to all my instructors at the Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences and the Interdisciplinary program of Pharmacology, Chulalongkorn University, in particular, my co-advisor Assistant Professor Dr. Varisa Pongrakhananon for guidance and support.

I would like to thank my family: my dad and mom who are the most important people for me, for their love, caring, and sacrifice. They always supported me throughout my life.

I would like to thank my labmates: Miss. Hattaya, Mr. Natthapon, Miss. Saowarose, and Mr. Tassarut for the sleepless nights we have worked together before deadlines, and for all the fun we have had in the last five years. Also, I thank my friends at the Department of Pharmacology and Physiology (Room 319) for their support and encouragement.

#### **GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**

I am grateful for the 100th Anniversary Chulalongkorn University Fund for doctoral scholarship and the 90th Anniversary of Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund) for funding me throughout my study.

Last but not least, my thanks go to all the people who have supported me to complete my degree directly or indirectly.

Narudol Teerapattarakan

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	age
i	iii
ABSTRACT (THAI)i	iii
йй	İ∨
ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv	i∨
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	.V
TABLE OF CONTENTS	vi
LIST OF TABLES	.x
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
ABBREVIATIONS	1
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	4
1.1 Background and rationale	4
1.2 Objectives	6
1.3 Research questions	6
1.4 Hypothesis	7
1.5 Research design	7
1.6 Benefits of the study	7
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW	9
2.1 Parkinson's disease	9
2.2 Pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease12	2
2.2.1 Genetic mutations	3
2.2.2 Protein aggregation and protein clearance	4

2.2.3 Neuroinflammation	16
2.2.4 Oxidative stress	17
2.2.5 Mitochondrial dysfunction	
2.2.6 Excitotoxicity	20
2.3 Autophagy and mitophagy	21
2.4 Rotenone model of Parkinson's disease	23
2.5 The standardized extract of <i>Centella asiatica</i> ECa233	25
2.5.1 Pharmacokinetic studies of ECa233	26
2.5.2 Safety and toxicity test	27
2.5.3 Pharmacological activities of ECa233	27
CHAPTER 3 MATERIALS AND METHODS	29
3.1 Material	29
3.1.1 Chemicals and Reagents	
3.1.2 Equipment	
3.1.3 Test compounds preparation	31
3.2 Methods	31
3.2.1 <i>In vivo</i> study	
3.2.1.1 Animals	
3.2.1.2 Experimental design	
3.2.1.3 Open field test	
3.2.1.4 Apomorphine challenge	
3.2.1.5 Immunohistochemical analysis	35
3.2.1.6 Mitochondrial complex I activity assay	
3.2.1.7 Thiobarbituric acid reactive species (TBARS) method	

3.2.1.8 Protein expression	37
3.2.2 In vitro study	39
3.2.2.1 Determination of toxic concentrations of rotenone	40
3.2.2.2 Determination of non-toxic concentrations of ECa233	40
3.2.2.3 Determination of neuroprotective effects of ECa233	40
3.2.2.4 Determination of intracellular ROS levels	40
3.2.2.5 Determination of mitochondrial membrane potential	41
3.2.2.6 Mitophagy detection	41
3.2.2.7 Protein expression	42
3.3 Statistical analysis	42
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS	44
4.1 In vivo study	44
4.1.1 Locomotor activity	44
4.1.1.1 Total distances	44
4.1.1.2 Locomotion time	47
4.1.1.3 Resting time	49
4.1.2 Apomorphine challenge	51
4.1.3 TH-positive neurons in the substantia nigra	53
4.1.4 The intensity of TH-positive neurons in the striatum	55
4.1.5 Mitochondrial complex I activity	57
4.1.6 MDA levels	57
4.1.7 Antioxidant enzymes expression	59
4.2. In vitro study	62
4.2.1 Determination of non-toxic concentrations of ECa233	62

4.2.2 Determination of toxic concentrations of rotenone
4.2.3 The protective effects of ECa233 against rotenone-induced cytotoxicity 63
4.2.4 The effect of ECa233 on rotenone-induced intracellular ROS levels64
4.2.5 The effect of ECa233 on rotenone-induced mitochondrial membrane
potential reduction
4.2.6 Mitophagy enhancing effect of ECa233
4.2.7 Mitophagy associated protein expression
4.2.8 Apoptotic protein expression
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION
5.1 ECa233 exhibits neuroprotective effects in rotenone-induced rat model of
Parkinson's disease
5.2 ECa233 protected against neurotoxicity of rotenone in SH-SY5Y
5.3 Conclusion
REFERENCES
APPENDIX
VITA

# LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 experimental	plan and drug	administration

Page



# LIST OF FIGURES

	Page
Figure 1 Conceptual framework	8
Figure 2 Classification of Parkinson's disease	10
Figure 3 Mechanisms of action of drugs used in Parkinson's disease	11
Figure 4 Natural compounds that exhibit neuroprotective effects in Parkinson's	
disease models	. 12
Figure 5 Major molecular pathways in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease	13
Figure 6 Mutations of Parkinson's associated genes	14
Figure 7 Protein aggregation and protein clearance systems	16
Figure 8 Molecular neuroinflammation in Parkinson's Disease	17
Figure 9 An imbalance between the ROS production antioxidant defense	18
Figure 10 Mitochondrial dysfunction as a central role in the pathogenesis of	
Parkinson's disease	19
Figure 11 Molecular mechanisms of excitotoxicity in neurodegenerative disease	20
Figure 12 Autophagic-lysosomal system	21
Figure 13 Mitophagy as a protective mechanism in cells	23
Figure 14 Mechanisms of action of rotenone toxicity	24
Figure 15 Centella asiatica and structure of the major bioactive constituents	25
Figure 16 The experimental groups	32
Figure 17 Experimental design for in vitro study	38
Figure 18 Principle of mitophagy detection	42
Figure 19 demonstrates the distances of rats on day 14, 17 and 20	46
Figure 20 demonstrates the locomotion time of rats on day 14, 17 and 20	48

Figure 21 demonstrates the resting time of rats on day 14, 17 and 20	50
Figure 22 demonstrates the locomotor activities of the rats on the apomorphine	
challenge day	52
Figure 23 Expression of tyrosine hydroxylase positive neurons in the substantia nigra	Э
	54
Figure 24 Tyrosine hydroxylase positive fibers in the striatum	56
Figure 25 demonstrates the effect of Eca233 on mitochondrial dysfunction induced	
by rotenone	58
Figure 26 demonstrates the MDA levels in the rat's brains	58
Figure 27 demonstrates the expression of SOD	60
Figure 28 demonstrates the expression of CAT	61
Figure 29 The effect of ECa233 on cell viability.	62
Figure 30 The cytotoxic effect of rotenone on cell viability	63
Figure 31 The protective effects of ECa233 against rotenone-induced cytotoxicity in	
SH-SY5Y cell	64
Figure 32 demonstrates intracellular ROS levels	65
Figure 33 demonstrates the TMRE intensity.	66
Figure 34 Effects of rotenone and ECa233 on mitophagy.	67
Figure 35 demonstrates the expression of Beclin-1	68
Figure 36 demonstrates the expression of LC3-II and LC3-I	69
Figure 37 demonstrates the expression Bcl-2	71
Figure 38 demonstrates the Bax/GAPDH densities.	72
Figure 39 demonstrates the cleaved-caspase 3/caspase 3 densities	73

## ABBREVIATIONS

 $\alpha$  = alpha

 $\beta$  = beta

°C = degree Celsius

< = less than

 $\mu$ L = microliter(s)

 $\mu$ M = micromolar(s)

/ = per

% = percentage <

± = plus-minus sign

x g = relative centrifugal force

6-OHDA = 6-hydroxydopamine

AADC = aromatic amino acid decarboxylase

Abs = absorbance

ANOVA = analysis of variance

ATP = adenosine triphosphate

Bax = Bcl-2 associated X protein

Bcl-2 = B-cell lymphoma-2

- BBB = blood brain barrier
- BSA = bovine serum albumin

 $Ca^{2+} = calcium ion$ 

CMC = carboxy methyl cellulose

CNS = central nervous system

 $CO_2$  = carbon dioxide

Complex I = complex one of mitochondrial respiratory chain

COMT = catechol-O-methyltransferase

CYP450 = cytochrome P450

DAT = dopamine transporter

DJ-1 = nucleic acid deglycase DJ-1

DMSO = dimethyl sulfoxide

g = gram(s)

GAPDH = glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase

h = hour(s)

 $H_2O_2$  = hydrogen peroxide

 $IC_{50}$  = half maximal inhibitory concentration

iNOS = inducible nitric oxide synthase

i.p. = intraperitoneal injection

kg = kilogram(s)

LBs = Lewy bodies

LC3 = microtubule-associated protein light chain 3

L-dopa = levodopa

*LRRK2* = Leucine-rich repeat kinase 2

M = Molarity มาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

MAO<sub>B</sub> = monoamine oxidase subtype B

MDA = malondialdehyde

mg = milligram(s)

mL = milliliter(s)

MPP+ = 1-methyl-4-phenylpyridinium

MPTP = 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine

n = number

 $Na_2CO_3$  = sodium carbonate

NADH = nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide

nM = nanoMolar

NMDA = N-methyl-D-aspartate

NO = nitric oxide

PARK2 = Parkin RBR E3 ubiquitin protein ligase

PBS = phosphate-buffered saline

P-gp = P-glycoprotein

pH = potential of hydrogen ion

PINK1 = PTEN-induced putative kinase 1

- PTP = permeability transition pores
- p.o. = per os, oral administration
- ROS = reactive oxygen species
- s.c. = subcutaneous injection
- SDS = sodium dodecyl sulfate
- S.E.M. = standard error of mean
- SNCA = Synuclein alfa
- SNpc = substantia nigra pars compacta

SOD = superoxide dismutase

TBA = thiobarbituric acid

TBARS = thiobarbituric acid reacting substances

- TH = tyrosine hydroxylase
- TNF- $\alpha$  = tumor necrosis factor alpha
- TMRE = tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester
- VDAC = voltage-dependent anion channel

# CHAPTER 1

#### 1.1 Background and rationale

Parkinson's disease is a neurodegenerative disorder characterized by progressive loss of dopaminergic neurons in the nigrostriatal pathway Johnson and Bobrovskaya (2015). The loss of dopaminergic cells subsequently causes motor symptoms, including resting tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity, and postural imbalance. The current managements of Parkinson's disease aim to increase brain dopamine levels and to alleviate motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease patients. However, none of these medicines can slow or stop disease progression (Sharma et al., 2015). Therefore, finding the novel therapeutic agents for Parkinson's disease is still required.

Many studies revealed causes of dopaminergic neuronal death including oxidative stress, neuroinflammation, and mitochondria dysfunction (Gaki & Papavassiliou, 2014; Johnson & Bobrovskaya, 2015; Wang et al., 2015). Mitochondrial dysfunction has gained more interest as it is presented in the pathogenesis of sporadic and familial types of Parkinson's disease (Winklhofer & Haass, 2010). The inhibition of mitochondrial complex I results in the disruption of electron transport chain causing the reduction of ATP levels, reactive oxygen species production, oxidative stress and neuronal cell death (Winklhofer & Haass, 2010). Since mitochondria dysfunction leads to molecular events of cell death, cells undergo mitophagy process to protect themselves. Mitophagy is a subset of macro-autophagy aiming to maintain cellular homeostasis by increasing the clearance of the damaged mitochondria (Anding & Baehrecke, 2017; Rodriguez-Enriquez et al., 2006). Therefore, the therapeutic strategy targeting mitochondria function is one of the promising therapeutic approach in Parkinson's disease.

Rotenone, a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor, was used to generate Parkinson's disease model in this study. Rotenone disrupts mitochondrial electron transport chain causing loss of ATP, reactive oxygen species generation and neuronal cell death (Johnson & Bobrovskaya, 2015; Wrangel et al., 2015). Rotenone causes selective nigrostriatal degeneration and produce parkinsonism-liked behaviors in animals (Sherer et al., 2003a; Testa et al., 2005). Rotenone also inhibits mitophagy and promotes  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ -synuclein aggregation *in vitro* (Wu et al., 2015). By using rotenone-induced neurotoxicity, this study aimed to elucidate the neuroprotective mechanisms involving mitochondria protection, mitophagy enhancement, and antioxidant.

Centella asiatica is a tropical medicinal plant wildly used in the South East Asia. In Thailand, *Centella asiatica* has been approved to use externally as a wound healing agent according to the National list of essential medicines of Thailand (Thai-FDA, 2012). The major active ingredients of Centella asiatica are asiaticoside and madecassoside (Günther & Wagner, 1996). Previous scientific evidences have reported various pharmacological effects of Centella asiatica such as gastroprotection (Cheng & Koo, 2000), wound healing effect (Somboonwong et al., 2012), anti-inflammatory effect (George et al., 2009), cognitive improvement (Soumyanath et al., 2012) and neuroprotective effect (Haleagrahara & Ponnusamy, 2010). However, the crude extracts of Centella asiatica generally vary in their compositions contributing to the uncertain biological responses. In order to minimize those unpredictably pharmacological effects of crude extracts, the standardized extract of Centella asiatica ECa233 has been established by Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University. ECa233

consists of madecassoside and asiaticoside not less than 80%. The ratio between madecassoside and asiaticoside are 1.5:1, respectively (Saifah E, 2009). Previous studies have revealed the anxiolytic effect (Wanasuntronwong al.. 2012). the neuritogenic effect et (Wanakhachornkrai et al., 2013) and learning and memory improvement of ECa233 (Tantisira et al., 2010). Although ECa233 exerts various pharmacological effects in the central nervous system (CNS), the neuroprotective effect of ECa233 in Parkinson's disease model has not been clarified. Therefore, this study aimed to demonstrate the neuroprotective effects of Eca233 against rotenone-induced Parkinson's disease model and to investigate the mechanisms underlying the neuroprotective effects of ECa233.

#### 1.2 Objectives

1. To investigate the neuroprotective effects of the standardized extract of *Centella aisiatica* ECa233

2. To elucidate the mechanisms underlying the neuroprotective effects of the standardized extract of *Centella aisiatica* ECa233

# **CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY**

## 1.3 Research questions

1. Does ECa233 produce the neuroprotective effects in the rotenone model of Parkinson's disease?

2. What are the mechanisms underlying the neuroprotective effects of ECa233?

## 1.4 Hypothesis

ECa233 shows the neuroprotective effects in the *in vivo* and *in vitro* models of Parkinson's disease induced by rotenone. The mechanisms underlying the neuroprotective effects of ECa233 are mediated through antioxidant activity, mitochondrial protection, and mitophagy enhancement.

## 1.5 Research design

Experimental Research

## 1.6 Benefits of the study

This study provides the scientific information of ECa233, which supports further development of ECa233 as a novel therapeutic agent in Parkinson's disease.



Figure 1 Conceptual framework

8

# CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Parkinson's disease

Parkinson's disease is the second prevalent most neurodegenerative disorder worldwide with an estimated prevalence of 315/100,000 among the population aged over 40 (Pringsheim et al., 2014). In Thailand, the prevalence of Parkinson's disease was 425/100,000 among the population (Bhidayasiri et al., 2011). Parkinson's disease can be classified into two types, which are familial and sporadic types. Familial Parkinson's disease is usually early onset and caused by mutations of many genes such as SNCA, PARK2, PINK1, DJ-1, and LRRK2 (Ferreira & Massano, 2017). These genes regulate protein-homeostasis, mitochondria function, and antioxidant mechanisms (Ryan et al., 2015; Simon-Sanchez et al., 2009). Sporadic Parkinson's disease is normally late onset. Although the causes of sporadic Parkinson's disease remain unclear, many evidences have shown that aging, environmental toxin, and genetic mutation are associated with sporadic Parkinson's disease (Billingsley et al., 2018; McCormack et al., 2002) (Figure 2).

The cardinal motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease include resting tremor, bradykinesia, rigidity, and postural instability. Although Parkinson's disease has been recognized as a motor-related disorder, neuropsychiatric and non-motor manifestations are also presented, especially in advanced stage of disease (Barone et al., 2009). Non-motor symptoms are caused by dysfunctional adrenergic, cholinergic, and serotonergic systems (Chaudhuri & Schapira, 2009). These non-motor symptoms include cognitive dysfunctions, hallucinations, mood disorders, sleep disorders, loss of smell sensation, and gastrointestinal disturbances (Chaudhuri & Schapira, 2009).



Figure 2 Classification of Parkinson's disease (Fu et al., 2015).

The current pharmacological management of Parkinson's disease aims to increase dopamine levels in the brain and subsequently relieve motor symptoms. Drugs used in Parkinson's disease can be classified into six classes based on their mechanisms of action which are levodopa, dopamine receptor agonist, monoamine oxidase-B (MAO-B) inhibitor, catechol-O-methyltransferase (COMT) inhibitor, dopamine releaser and anticholinergic drug (Figure 3). Levodopa is an intermediate precursor of dopamine which is converted to dopamine by aromatic amino acid decarboxylase (AADC). Levodopa is usually administered in combination with AADC inhibitors, such as benserazide and carbidopa, to prevent peripheral metabolism of levodopa. Dopamine receptor agonist directly stimulates dopamine receptor in the striatum and therefore mimic the endogenous effect of dopamine. They can be used as monotherapy in early Parkinson's disease or in combination with levodopa to manage motor fluctuation. COMT inhibitor, entacapone, inhibits the peripheral degradation of levodopa; thus, increases levodopa level in the brain. MAO-B-inhibitors can be used as monotherapy and in combination with levodopa. MAO-B-inhibitors inhibit dopamine degradation; therefore, they can extend the effects of dopamine in the synapse. Anticholinergic drugs are used to keep the balance between cholinergic and dopaminergic signaling in the basal ganglia resulting in the diminishing of tremor. Amantadine is indicated for alleviating levodopa-induced dyskinesia; however, its mechanism of action is now unknown.



Figure 3 Mechanisms of action of drugs used in Parkinson's disease (Connolly & Lang, 2014)

Neuroprotective therapy is a novel strategy in the treatment of Parkinson's disease. The goal of neuroprotective therapy is to delay disease progression by protecting the neurons from degeneration. The proposed neuroprotective mechanisms include anti-oxidant, mitochondrial protection, trophic factor improvement, anti-inflammation, and anti-apoptosis (Sarkar et al., 2016). Several neuroprotective candidates for Parkinson's disease have currently been studied such as coenzyme Q10, selegiline, rasagiline, resveratrol, ginsenoside, and curcumin (Figure 4) (Fu et al., 2015). Although the potential neuroprotective effects of these compounds have been reported in animal models and clinical trials (Fu et al., 2015), no treatment to date has been approved as a neuroprotective agent for Parkinson's disease.



Figure 4 Natural compounds that exhibit neuroprotective effects in Parkinson's disease models (Fu et al., 2015).

#### 2.2 Pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease

The main pathology of Parkinson's disease is the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra and the reduction of dopamine levels in the striatum leading to motor and non-motor symptoms (Fahn, 2003). The aggregations of  $\alpha$ -synuclein proteins, called Lewy bodies, are also presented in the brain of Parkinson's disease patients (Guerrero et al., 2013). Overexpression of  $\alpha$ -synuclein as well as the impairment of protein clearance system result in the aggregation of Lewy bodies and subsequently promote neuronal death (Le, 2014). Additionally, dopaminergic neuronal loss is caused by other molecular events including oxidative stress (Gaki & Papavassiliou, 2014), neuroinflammation (Wang et al., 2015) mitochondrial dysfunction and impaired calcium homeostasis (Rego & Oliveira, 2003) (Figure 5). Genetic mutations in these molecular pathways found in familial Parkinson's disease help elucidate the molecular mechanisms of dopaminergic death.



Figure 5 Major molecular pathways in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's *disease* (Poewe et al., 2017)

#### 2.2.1 Genetic mutations

There is the increasing of evidence supported the roles of genetic factors in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease (Billingsley et al., 2018). Several gene mutations have been identified in familial Parkinson's disease, including SNCA, LRRK2, PARK2, PINK1, and DJ-1 (Figure 6). SNCA mutation causes the overexpression of the  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein, which leads to abnormal protein aggregation, Lewy body formation, and cellular oxidative stress (Klein & Schlossmacher, 2007). The leucine-rich repeat kinase-2 (*LRRK2*) gene encodes a protein called dardarin. This protein is a cytoplasmic kinase involving protein turnover and lysosomal degradation pathway (Schapira, 2006; Zimprich et al., 2004). Mutation of LRRK2 results in the abnormal protein clearance systems. Parkin, the protein encoded by the *PARK2* gene, plays a role in ubiquitination and protein degradation by proteasomes (Feng, 2006). Mutation of *PARK2* decreases protein clearance activity. Mutation of mitochondrial PTEN-induced putative kinase 1 gene (*PINK1*) causes mitochondrial dysfunction (Morais et al., 2014). *DJ-1* gene is associated with attenuation of cellular oxidative stress (Bonifati et al., 2003).



Figure 6 Mutations of Parkinson's associated genes (Poewe et al., 2017)

#### 2.2.2 Protein aggregation and protein clearance

Protein aggregation has been proposed as one of the causes of cell death in Parkinson's disease. Lewy bodies, composed of  $\alpha$ -synuclein protein, are aggregated in several brain areas of Parkinson's disease

patients such as basal ganglia, cortex, and limbic area (Gallegos et al., 2015).

An *in vitro* study revealed that  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ -synuclein interrupted cellular physiological processes including axonal transport, protein folding, protein clearance, mitochondria function, and immune response (Lashuel et al., 2002). Moreover,  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ -synuclein is a transmittable protein which can spread from an affected neuron to other neurons. Moreover,  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ synuclein-transfected cells exhibited a marked increase in ROS production, leading to neuronal apoptosis (Xu et al., 2002). A single injection of  $\boldsymbol{\alpha}$ -synuclein into mouse's striatum caused cell-to-cell transmission leading to the loss of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra and the impairment of motor coordination (Dehay et al., 2016; Luk et al., 2012a; Luk et al., 2012b).

Since aggregation of protein leads to neuronal death, neurons then activate their protein clearance systems, which are the ubiquitinproteasome system and the autophagy-lysosomal pathway, as the defense mechanisms (Nedelsky et al., 2008) (Figure 7). These systems maintain protein homeostasis by mediating the repair and removal of abnormal proteins (Dehay et al., 2013; Lim & Zhang, 2013). When the systems are inhibited by genetic mutations or neurotoxins,  $\mathbf{\alpha}$ -synuclein and its insoluble form can misfold, aggregate, accumulate inside the cells leading to apoptosis. Therefore, the prevention of protein aggregation is an important therapeutic strategy for Parkinson's disease (Jankovic, 2019).



Figure 7 Protein aggregation and protein clearance systems (Irwin et al., 2013)

#### 2.2.3 Neuroinflammation

In Parkinson's disease patients, the level of cytokines and inflammation markers are drastically elevated, suggesting that inflammation play roles in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease (Kim et al., 2018). The neuroinflammation in the brain is conducted in respondse to the aggregated  $\mathbf{Q}$ -synuclein (Hirsch & Hunot, 2009). These aggregated proteins then released into paracellular space and subsequently cause astrocyte and microglia activation, proinflammatory cytokine released, and paracellular damage. Cytokines, including interleukin-1, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF- $\alpha$ ) activate nitric oxide and superoxide production, contributing to oxidative stress (Hirsch & Hunot, 2009). Furthermore, activated microglia can degrade functional protein, cause mitochondria dysfunction, interrupt axonal transport and induce neuronal apoptosis (Qian et al., 2010; Sochocka et al., 2017) (Figure 8).



Figure 8 Molecular neuroinflammation in Parkinson's Disease (More et al., 2013)

## 2.2.4 Oxidative stress

Excessive reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels disturbs cellular homeostasis and causes neuronal apoptosis and neurodegeneration (Multhaup et al., 1997). A physiological level of ROS is mainly produced within mitochondria during electron transport chain (ETC). Mitochondrial dysfunction leads to abnormal ROS production (Park et al., 2018). Antioxidants and antioxidant enzymes, such as glutathione, superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase (CAT), regulate the excessive ROS levels (Lotharius & Brundin, 2002). However, the imbalance between antioxidant defenses, and ROS levels have been observed in Parkinson's disease (Gaki & Papavassiliou, 2014; Lotharius & Brundin, 2002) (Figure 9). The oxidized DNA, lipids, and proteins were found largely in brain tissues of familial and sporadic Parkinson's disease patients (Bosco et al., 2006; Nakabeppu et al., 2007). Moreover, neurotoxin-induced animal models of Parkinson's disease also demonstrates the increase of oxidative stress levels in brain tissues (Perier et al., 2003). Many antioxidants such as sesame, vitamin E and melatonin have shown to prevent oxidative stress and protect the nigrostriatal neurons in animal models of Parkinson's disease (Filograna et al., 2016; Sriram et al., 1997; Vila & Przedborski, 2003).



**Figure 9** An imbalance between the ROS production antioxidant defense could contribute to the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease (Lotharius & Brundin,

2002).

จุหาลงกรณํมหาวิทยาลัย

# 2.2.5 Mitochondrial dysfunction

Mitochondria are double membrane organelles which regulate cellular functions such as ATP synthesis, calcium homeostasis, and apoptosis induction (Winklhofer & Haass, 2010). The role of mitochondria in Parkinson's disease was unintentionally discovered as 1-methyl4phenyl 1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP), a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor, caused parkinsonism in abused patients (Przedborski et al., 2000). It has been later identified that the inhibition of mitochondrial complex I enzyme leads to Parkinsonian phenotypes (Halbach, 2005). Post-mortem studies revealed the reduction of mitochondria complex I activity, mitochondrial membrane potential and ATP levels in Parkinson's disease patients (Schapira et al., 1990; Sharma et al., 2015). Importantly, administration of complex I inhibitors, such as MPTP and rotenone, can induce the selective loss of dopaminergic neurons and produce parkinsonism behaviors in animals (Halbach, 2005). The inhibition of complex I enzyme disturbs the flow of electron in electron transport chain leading to ROS production, oxidative stress, ATP depletion and neuronal cell death (Sherer et al., 2002; Zhang et al., 2001) (Figure 10). As dopaminergic neurons are susceptible to oxidative stress and bioenergetics crisis (Haddad & Nakamura, 2015), the protection of mitochondria function is one of the promising approaches for neuroprotective strategy in Parkinson's disease.



Figure 10 Mitochondrial dysfunction as a central role in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease (Moon & Paek, 2015)

#### 2.2.6 Excitotoxicity

Excitotoxicity is a process of increased  $Ca^{2+}$  influx into the cytosol, causing physiological disruption and cell death (Ambrosi et al., 2014). Generally, regulations of  $Ca^{2+}$  influx rely on glutamate N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) receptor. Activation of NMDA receptors causes  $Ca^{2+}$  influx and subsequently induces many physiological cascades and signaling transductions associated with memory and learning (Castellano et al., 2001). Overactivation of NMDA receptor occurs in Parkinson's disease (Dong et al., 2009), and consequently evokes oxidative stress, inflammation, mitochondrial dysfunction and neuronal apoptosis (Ambrosi et al., 2014) (Figure 11).



Figure 11 Molecular mechanisms of excitotoxicity in neurodegenerative disease (Dirnagl et al., 1999)

#### 2.3 Autophagy and mitophagy

Autophagy is a cellular self-degradative program that plays the roles in removing aggregated proteins and damaged organelles (Anding & Baehrecke, 2017). In the mammalian cell, autophagy can be classified into macro-autophagy, microautophagy, and chaperone-mediated autophagy. Macro-autophagy mostly degrades aggregated proteins and damaged organelles by engulfing and transferring them to lysosome. Micro-autophagy removes small cytosolic components by transferring small cytosolic components directly to lysosome while chaperonemediated autophagy transfers the misfolded proteins to the lysosome by chaperone proteins.

Macro-autophagy initiates by forming double membrane-bound vesicle called autophagosome. Beclin-1 is a platform for enabling the assembly of various proteins associated with autophagosome formation. Then, autophagy-related protein and the processing of LC3-phosphatidylethanolamine mediate the autophagosome elongation. Finally, autophagosome containing aggregated proteins and damaged organelles is fused with a lysosome to digest deficit proteins and release the recyclable substrates (Anding & Baehrecke, 2017) (Figure 12).



Figure 12 Autophagic-lysosomal system (Kaur & Debnath, 2015)

Mitophagy is a macro-autophagy process that selectively degrades damaged mitochondria (Martinez-Vicente, 2017). Since mitochondria dysfunction leads to molecular events of cell death, mitophagy helps maintain cellular homeostasis by clearance of the damaged mitochondria (Anding & Baehrecke, 2017; Rodriguez-Enriquez et al., 2006) (Figure 13). In mitophagy, autophagosome engulfs the damaged mitochondria and further fused with a lysosome for digesting dysfunctional mitochondria. The digested substrates, including amino acid, are then released and reused for generating a new functional mitochondrion (Anding & Baehrecke, 2017). The depolarization of the mitochondrial membrane triggers mitophagy in response to hypoxia, chemical uncoupler, and oxidative stress (Anding & Baehrecke, 2017; Martinez-Vicente, 2017).

Mitophagy impairment occurs in the models of Parkinson's disease. For example, rotenone decreased the mitophagy process and its protein markers in SH-SY5Y and PC12 cells (Wu et al., 2015; Xiong et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2015). In addition, rapamycin, an autophagic enhancer, attenuated dopaminergic neurodegeneration in MPTP-treated mice (Dehay et al., 2010). The neuroprotective actions of autophagy-enhancing agents such as metformin, curcumin, and resveratrol have been reported *in vivo* and *in vitro* models of Parkinson's disease (Moors et al., 2017). Thus, mitophagy enhancement is another promising strategy for Parkinson's disease management (East et al., 2014; Moors et al., 2017).



Figure 13 Mitophagy as a protective mechanism in cells (Lee et al., 2016)

## 2.4 Rotenone model of Parkinson's disease

As mitochondria dysfunction is the important pathology of Parkinson's disease, rotenone, a mitochondrial complex I inhibitor, has been used widely in the model of Parkinson's disease *in vivo* and *in vitro* (Perier et al., 2003). Rotenone, administered by subcutaneous, intravenous and intraperitoneal injections to the rats, can cause the selective loss of the nigrostriatal dopaminergic neurons, depletion of dopamine level, and  $\alpha$ -synuclein aggregations leading to parkinsonism behaviors (Cannon et al., 2009; Perier et al., 2003; Sherer et al., 2003a; Testa et al., 2005; Tieu, 2011). Many behavioral tests including cylinder test, movement initiation test, open-field test, rotarod test, and catalepsy test have been used for detecting motor deficits in rotenone models. It was shown that rotenone administration decreased locomotor activity, prolonged movement latency and reduced rotarod performance (Fleming et al., 2004; Inden et al., 2007; Sharma & Nehru, 2013; Sherer et al., 2003b) The motor deficits induced by rotenone are dopamine-dependent
as the administration of a dopamine agonist, apomorphine, can improve the motor symptoms (Cannon et al., 2009).

Rotenone has been used to induce cytotoxicity in many dopaminergic-liked cell lines such as PC12, SH-SY5Y, and LUHMES cells (Nataraj et al., 2017; Sai et al., 2008; Smirnova et al., 2016). Molecular mechanisms of rotenone-induced cytotoxicity in PC12 cell consisted of a decrease of cellular ATP level, an increase of ROS production, and the impairment of mitochondrial membrane potential (Marella, 2007). In addition, rotenone impaired autophagy-lysosomal pathway, and subsequently caused  $\alpha$ -synuclein accumulation and apoptosis in PC12 and SH-SY5Y cells (Wu et al., 2015; Xiong et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2015). Taken together, the rotenone model is a good model to recapitulate the pathologies and molecular mechanisms of Parkinson's disease *in vitro* and *in vivo*.



Figure 14 Mechanisms of action of rotenone toxicity (Marella, 2007)

# 2.5 The standardized extract of Centella asiatica ECa233

*Centella asiatica* (Apiaceaea) has been used in Chinese, Ayurvedic and Thai traditional medicines for the treatment of wound, varicose vein and eczema (Gohil et al., 2010; Vaidya, 1997). *Centella asiatica* has been approved to use externally as a wound healing agent according to the National list of essential medicines of Thailand (Thai-FDA, 2012). Pharmacological effects of *Centella asiatica* include wound healing effect (Jin et al., 2015), anxiolytic effect (Wijeweera et al., 2006), learning and memory improvement (Rao et al., 2005; Veerendra Kumar & Gupta, 2002), anti-inflammation (Sharma et al., 2014), anti-oxidation (Anand et al., 2010) and neuroprotective effects (Kumar & Gupta, 2003).

The major bioactive constituents of *Centella asiatica* are asiatic acid, asiaticoside, madecassic acid, and madecassoside (Inamdar et al., 1996) **(Figure 15)**. Previous studies demonstrated many pharmacological effects of madecassoside, madecassic acid, asiaticoside, and asiatic acid including neuroprotective effect, anti-inflammation, neuritogenic effect and antioxidative effect (Ling et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2009; Xu et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2012)

2015; Xu et al., 2012)  $\begin{array}{c}
\downarrow \\
\downarrow \\
HO \\
HO \\
HO \\
\downarrow  

Asiatic acid

Madecassic acid

óн

HO

Figure 15 Centella asiatica and structure of the major bioactive constituents (Anukunwithaya et al., 2017b) Natural extracts generally vary in their compositions leading to unsteady biological responses. To avoid that problem, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University have developed a standardized extract of *Centella asiatica* ECa233. ECa233 are a white to an off-white powder containing triterpenoid glycosides not less than 80%. The ratio between madecassoside and asiaticoside are maintained at 1.5:1 (Saifah E, 2009).

# 2.5.1 Pharmacokinetic studies of ECa233

A single-dose of ECa233 caused a rapid absorption of madecassoside and asiaticoside.  $T_{max}$  of madacassoside and asiaticoside were 0.22 and 0.62 hours, respectively (Hengjumrut et al., 2017).  $C_{max}$  of madecassoside and asiaticoside were demonstrated to be dose-dependent after oral administration of ECa233 in rats. Within 1 hour after ECa233 administration, madecassoside and asiaticoside accumulated in brain, stomach, kidney, liver, and skin (Anukunwithaya et al., 2017b). ECa233 did not affect of CYP1A1, CYP1A2, CYP2B1/2B2, CYP2E1 and CYP3A activities at the dose up to 2000 mg/kg (Kulthong et al., 2009). Madecassoside and asiaticoside were mainly excreted as their acid forms including madecassic acid and asiatic acid suggesting the extensive metabolism of madecassoside and asiaticoside (Anukunwithaya et al., 2017b; Hengjumrut et al., 2017).

Furthermore, administration of ECa233 increased AUC and elimination half-life of madecassoside and asiaticoside compared to those of pure compounds administered alone (Hengjumrut et al., 2017). This result indicated a superior pharmacokinetic profile of ECa233 which might provide a better biological activity of ECa23. The same study also reported the interconversion between asiaticoside and madecassoside that might account for the increased AUC and elimination half-life of madecassoside and asiaticoside after ECa233 administration (Hengjumrut et al., 2017).

# 2.5.2 Safety and toxicity test

ECa233 had a good safety profile in animal studies (Chivapat et al., 2011). Acute toxicity study in mice found that oral administration of ECa233 up to 10 g/kg caused neither toxic sign nor death within 14 days. Moreover, the sub-chronic study showed no significant change in body weight, food consumption, and health after giving the rats with ECa233 10, 100, and 1,000 mg/kg/day. All ECa233-treated rats had no pathological lesion of the internal organs. Therefore, it can be concluded that ECa233 has no acute toxicity in the dose up to 10 g/kg as well as sub-chronic toxicity up to 1,000 mg/kg (Chivapat et al., 2011). In addition, acute and sub-chronic administration of ECa233 did not cause toxicity in rats, suggesting ECa233 is a promising candidate in drug development (Chivapat et al., 2011).

# Chulalongkorn University

# 2.5.3 Pharmacological activities of ECa233

The effect of ECa233 in CNS has been increasingly investigated. It was shown that normal rats receiving 30 mg/kg of ECa233 for 14 days had higher cognitive performance than untreated rats suggesting its learning and memory enhancing activity (Wattanatorn et al., 2008). Anxiolytic activity of ECa233 was also observed in acutely, and chronically stressed mice (Wanasuntronwong et al., 2012). ECa233 (10 mg/kg) protected against neurotoxicity induced by  $\beta$ -amyloid (Kam-eg et al., 2009). In addition, ECa233 (10 and 30 mg/kg) improved learning and memory

deficits induced by common carotid occlusion in mice (Tantisira et al., 2010). *In vitro* study also revealed neuritogenic effect of ECa233 (1-100  $\mu$ g/mL) in IMR-32 neuroblastoma cell (Wanakhachornkrai et al., 2013). Although ECa233 exerts various pharmacological effects in CNS, the neuroprotective effect of ECa233 in Parkinson's disease model is not yet clarified. Therefore, this study aims to demonstrate the neuroprotective effects of Eca233 against rotenone-induced Parkinson's disease model.



Chulalongkorn University

# CHAPTER 3

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 3.1 Material

# 3.1.1 Chemicals and Reagents

1,1,3,3-tetraethoxypropane (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA)  $2^{-7}$ -dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) 3, 30-diaminobenzidine (Wako, Japan) Absolute ethanol (Merck, Darmstadt, FR. Germany) Acetic acid glacial (BDH Laboratory Supplies, Poole, Dorset, England) Apomorphine (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Carboxymethyl cellulose CMC (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium: F-12 (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) GlutaMAX (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) N-butanol (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Nonidet P40 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Paraformaldehyde (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Penicillin-streptomycin (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) Pentobarbital sodium (Nembutal®, CEVA Sante' animale, Belgium) Phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride Potassium phosphate dibasic (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Potassium phosphate monobasic (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Pyridine (Merck, Darmstadt, FR. Germany) Resazurin powder (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA)

Rotenone (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Skim milk (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Sodium carbonate (Fisher Scientific UK Limited, Leicestershire, UK) Sodium chloride (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Sodium dodecyl sulfate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Sodium fluoride (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Sodium hydroxide (Merck, Darmstadt, FR. Germany) Sodium orthovanadate (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Sucrose (Merck, Darmstadt, FR. Germany) Sunflower oil (Morakot®, Thailand) Tetramethylrhodamine, ethyl ester (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA) Thiobarbituric acid (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Tris (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Tris-HCl (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Tween-20 (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA) Xylene (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, MO. USA)

# 3.1.2 Equipment การณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

CG842 laboratory pH meter (SCHOTT® Instruments GmbH, Germany) Cryostat microtome (LEICA, Germany) Dounce homogenizer (Glas-Col®, USA) Himac Refrigerated centrifuge machine (Hitachi, Ltd., Japan) IX51® Inverted Microscope (Olympus America Inc., USA) Microplate reader (CLARIOstar®,BMG LABTECH, Germany) Mikro 20 centrifuge machine (Hettich, Switzerland) PG 2002-S Balance (Mettler Toledo, Columbus, OH. USA) Power supply (PowerPac,USA) TE124S Analytical balance (Sartorius AG., Germany) Temperature controlled water bath (Memmert, Germany) Trans-Blot SD semi-dry electrophoretic transfer (Trans-Blot,USA) VideoMOT2 system (TSE Systems GmbH, Bad Homburg, Germany) VM300 Vortex mixer (Axiom®, Germany)

# 3.1.3 Test compounds preparation

ECa233 was provided by Nature Idea Company Limited, Bangkok, Thailand. ECa233 was freshly prepared by suspending in 0.5% carboxymethyl cellulose (CMC) to obtain the desired concentrations (10, 30 and 100 mg/mL).

Rotenone's stock solution was prepared by dissolving 150 mg of rotenone in 1 mL of 100% DMSO and stored in the -20°C refrigerator until the use. The working solution was freshly prepared by diluting stock solution in sunflower oil to obtain 2.5 mg/mL of rotenone.

Apomorphine was dissolved in sterile water at the concentration of 0.5 mg/mL.

#### 3.2 Methods

# 3.2.1 *In vivo* study

## 3.2.1.1 Animals

Eight-week old adult male Wistar rats (300-350 g) were purchased from the National Laboratory Animal Center, Mahidol University, Nakorn Pathom, Thailand. Rats were acclimatized and housed in polypropylene cages in a group of two. The room conditions were adjusted to  $24 \pm 2^{\circ}$  C with  $60 \pm 10\%$  humidity and 12 light/dark cycles. Food and water were provided ad libitum. The animal protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee (IACUC), Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand (Approval no. 15-33-004).

# 3.2.1.2 Experimental design

Rats were randomly assigned to five experimental groups (n=10/group) including control, rotenone-induced parkinsonism (PD) and PD pre-treated with ECa233 either 10, 30 or 100 mg/kg (PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100, respectively) **(Figure 16)**.



Rats in control and PD groups received 0.5% CMC (1 mL/kg, p.o.) while rats in PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 received ECa233 10, 30 and 100 mg/kg p.o., respectively for the first 14 days. On day 15 – 20, rats in control group received 0.5% CMC (1 mL/kg, p.o.) followed by 2% DMSO in sunflower oil (1 mL/kg, i.p.) while rats in PD group received 0.5% CMC (1 mL/kg, p.o.) followed by rotenone (2.5 mg/kg, i.p.). Rats in PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 were given the same dose of ECa233 followed by rotenone (2.5 mg/kg, i.p.). Rats in PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 were given the same dose of ECa233 followed by rotenone (2.5 mg/kg, i.p.) throughout day 15-20. Locomotor activity was performed on day 1 (before treatment), 14, 17, and 20. On day 21, the apomorphine challenge was then conducted. On day 22, all rats were euthanized using pentobarbital (100 mg/kg, i.p.) (Table 1). Five rats per group were transcardially perfused with PBS, followed by 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) for fixation. Brains were removed and stored in 4% PFA for further histological investigation. Brains of the remaining rats (n=5/group) were rapidly removed and cut midsagittally. The left brains

were freshly prepared for mitochondria fraction to measure mitochondrial complex I activity. The right brains were kept in -80°C for later biochemical analysis.



**Chulalongkorn University** 

 Table 1 experimental plan and drug administration.

Experimental day		22	Brain collection								
		21	əgnəlladə ənidqromoqA								
	Rotenone	20	CMC (p.o.) +	ASO (i.p.)	CMC (p.o.) +	/kg rotenone		3 10, 30 or 100	(p.o.) +	/kg rotenone	
		19									
		18									
		17									
		16	88	δDV	8	j mg	(;;	a23	g/kg	j mg	(;;
		15	0	29	0.0	2.5	(j.p	Ш	Ĕ	2.5	(j.p
	Pre-treatment	14	1 0.5% CMC (p.o.)								
		13					kg (p.o.)				
		12			(p.o.)						
		11									
		10									
		6						33 10, 30 or 100 mg/			
		7 8									
		9									
		2									
		33			CMC						
		2			.5% (			Ca23			
		1			Ö			Ш			
Group			Contro		0			PD- ECa			

# 3.2.1.3 Open field test

To evaluate the locomotor activity, each rat was placed in a black square box (50×50×40 cm.) for 5 minutes. The distance, ambulation time, and immobilization time were recorded and analyzed using VideoMOT2 system.

#### 3.2.1.4 Apomorphine challenge

To determine whether the deteriorated locomotor activity was a dopamine-dependent, apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg), a dopamine agonist, was subcutaneously injected to all rats on day 21. Five minutes later, rats were performed the open field tests. Data were then collected and analyzed.

# 3.2.1.5 Immunohistochemical analysis

Tyrosine hydroxylase (TH), a rate-limiting enzyme in dopamine synthesis, was used as a histological marker of dopaminergic neurons in this study. The histological staining technique was modified from Park et al. (Park et al., 2015). Briefly, brains in 4% PFA were transferred into 30% sucrose and further incubated for 48 hours. Next, brains were coronally sectioned (40 µm) using a cryostat at -20 °C. Sections at +2.16, +2.04, and +1.92 from bregma and -5.04, -5.20 and -5.28 from bregma were selected to represent the striatum and substantia nigra respectively (Paxinos & Watson, 2007). The selected sections were incubated in 0.1%  $H_2O_2$  for 30 minutes and transferred to 5% skim milk for 1 hour. The sections were subsequently incubated with primary anti-TH antibody (1:1000, Merck Millipore, Germany) at 4°C overnight followed by a 2-hour incubation with secondary biotin-conjugated anti-goat antibody (1:500, Merck Millipore, Germany) at room temperature. The antibody-antigen complexes were trapped with Avidin-Biotin Complex (Vector, CA, USA) followed by reacting with 3, 30-diaminobenzidine (Wako, Japan). Each section was later placed onto a glass slide and air-dry for 12 hours. For dehydration, each slide was immersed in a serial concentration of ethanol from 50%,

70%, 95%, 100% and finally in xylene. To preserve the samples, each slide was mounted using mounting media and closed with a cover slid.

To quantify the dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra, total TH-positive neurons were counted individually for each rat. For the striatum, the intensity of TH-positive neurons was analyzed by converting the images to gray scale, and measured the gray levels using Image J software. The values were subtracted with gray levels of the corpus callosum to obtain background correction.

# 3.2.1.6 Mitochondrial complex I activity assay

Complex I enzyme activity was measured using Complex I enzyme activity assay kits (Abcam, Cambridge, UK). Brains were homogenized in 0.1 M ice-cold PBS (1:10 W/V) using Dounce homogenizer. Homogenates were extracted mitochondrial fraction by adding 10  $\mu$ L of detergent provided in the kit to 90  $\mu$ L of homogenate and incubated for 30 minutes. Homogenates were centrifuged at 16,000 g for 20 minutes. Supernatants (200  $\mu$ L) were loaded into ELISA plate and incubated for 3 hours. After incubation, samples were removed, followed by adding 300- $\mu$ L assay solutions into each well. Mitochondria complex I activity was measured using a microplate reader (kinetic mode: OD 450 nm for 30 minutes). The activity of the enzyme was normalized by total protein using the Bradford protein quantification kit (Abcam, Cambridge, UK).

# 3.2.1.7 Thiobarbituric acid reactive species (TBARS) method

Lipid peroxidation was determined by measuring malondialdehyde (MDA). Brains were weighed and added 1:10 w/v of 0.1 M PBS at 4°C. Samples were then homogenized and centrifuged at 2,000 g for 15 minutes. After that, 1.5 mL of 20% acetic acid, 1.5 mL of 0.8% thiobarbituric acid, and 0.2 mL of 8.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS)

were mixed with 100  $\mu$ L of the samples. The mixtures were heated at 95°C for 60 minutes. Five-mL of N-butanol: pyridine solution (15:1 v/v) was then added and centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 10 minutes. The supernatants were collected and measured OD at 532 nm using a microplate reader (SpectraMax Plus 384, CA, USA)

### 3.2.1.8 Protein expression

Brain pellet was lysed in RIPA buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1% NP-40, 0.1% SDS, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), sodium orthovanadate and sodium fluoride). Homogenates were centrifuged at 12000 g for 20 minutes. Supernatants were collected and measure total protein concentration using BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Total protein concentration was adjusted to 100 µg using loading buffered. Samples were boiled at 95°C for 5 minutes then electrophoresed in 12% SDS-PAGE at 60 V for 2.5 hours. Proteins were further electrotransferred onto a PVDF membrane at 9 V for 1 hour and unspecific proteins were blocked using 5% skim milk in Tris-buffered saline containing 0.05% Tween-20 (TBST) at room temperature for 1 hour. The membrane was then incubated at 4°C overnight with the primary antibodies against catalase enzyme (1:500, Santa Cruz, USA), SOD enzyme (1:500, Santa Cruz, USA) and GAPDH (1:1000, Merck Millipore, Germany). Next, the membrane was triplicately washed with TBST and subsequently incubated with horseradish peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibody (1:1000, Merck Millipore, Germany) at room temperature for 2 hours. The membrane was washed by TBST triplicately and visualized using the chemiluminescence detection reagents (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA).



Figure 17 Experimental design for *in vitro* study

# 3.2.2 In vitro study

Human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells were purchased from American type culture collection (ATCC, USA). Cells were cultured and maintained in DMEM/F12 media supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum and 1% penicillin-streptomycin in a humidified 5%  $CO_2$  incubator at 37°C. Media were changed every two days, and subcultured (1:3) every five days.

SH-SY5Y cell is a neuroblast cell widely used in Parkinson's disease research. The cell is a subclone of the SK-N-SH cell line that was isolated from the bone marrow of a female neuroblastoma patient. SH-SY5Y has been reported to synthesize, release, take up, and store catecholamines, including dopamine (Filograna et al., 2015; McMillan et al., 2007). This cell also expressed tyrosine hydroxylase enzyme and dopamine transporter as markers of the dopaminergic neuron (Korecka et al., 2013; McMillan et al., 2007; Nisar et al., 2015). Thus, SH-SY5Y has been extensively used as a dopaminergic cell model to study various effects of Parkinson toxins on dopamine neurons *in vitro* (Arun et al., 2008; Chen et al., 2005; Huiyi Jiang, 2019).

To investigate the molecular mechanisms of ECa233, SH-SY5Y cells were treated with ECa233 or rotenone for cytotoxic screening. Non-toxic concentration of ECa233 and toxic concentration of rotenone were used to determine cell viability, ROS levels and mitochondrial membrane potential using resazurin assay, dichloro-dihydro-fluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) technique and tetramethylrhodamine, ethyl ester (TMRE) assay, respectively. To elucidate the molecular mechanisms of ECa233, mitophagy process and protein expression were measured using mitophagy detection and western blot analysis, respectively (Figure 17).

# 3.2.2.1 Determination of toxic concentrations of rotenone

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 5  $\times$  10<sup>4</sup> cells/200 µL. Cells were treated with rotenone at 50, 100, 250, 500, and 1000 nM for 48 hours (Nianyu Li). Cell viability was then determined using the resazurin assay. Briefly, ten-microliter of resazurin (0.1 mg/mL) was added into each well 4 hours prior to the end of the incubation time. The fluorescent intensity was measured at an excitation wavelength of 530 nm and an emission wavelength of 590 nm. The percentage of cell viability was calculated as follows:

% cell viability = (Abs. sample/Abs. control) x100

# 3.2.2.2 Determination of non-toxic concentrations of ECa233

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded in 96-well plate at a density of  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/200 µL. Cells were treated with ECa233 (5, 10, 25, 50, and 100 µg/mL) for 12 hours. Cell viability was then measured using resazurin assay.

# 3.2.2.3 Determination of neuroprotective effects of ECa233

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 5  $\times$  10<sup>4</sup> cells/200 µL. Cells were pretreated with ECa233 (5, 10, 25, 50 and 100 µg/mL) for 12 hours followed by rotenone incubation for 48 hours. Cells viability was then measured using resazurin assay.

# 3.2.2.4 Determination of intracellular ROS levels

Cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of  $5 \times 10^4$  cells/200 µL. Cells were incubated with ECa233 for 12 hours followed by rotenone either 6, 24 or 48 hours. 2<sup>'</sup>-7<sup>'</sup>-dichlorodihydrofluorescein diacetate (DCFH-DA) 25 nM was added at the end of rotenone incubation timepoints and incubated product (DCF) was quantified using microplate

reader at an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 520 nm.

# 3.2.2.5 Determination of mitochondrial membrane potential

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded at a density of 5 × 10<sup>4</sup> cells/200 µL. After incubation with ECa233 for 12 hours followed by rotenone treatment for 48 hours, tetramethylrhodamine ethyl ester (TMRE) solution (150 nM) was added and incubated for 30 minutes. Fluorescent intensity was determined by a microplate reader (SpectraMax Plus 384, CA, USA) at an excitation wavelength of 544 nm and an emission wavelength of 590 nm. Mitochondrial membrane potential ( $\Delta\Psi$ ) was assessed by cationic TMRE fluorescent dye that selectively binds to living mitochondria membrane. The depolarized mitochondrial membrane fails to accumulate this fluorescent dye resulting in a weaker fluorescent intensity.

# 3.2.2.6 Mitophagy detection

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded in 96-well plates at a density of 5 x 10<sup>5</sup> cells/200 µL. After incubation with ECa233 for 12 hours, cells were incubated with 100 nmol Mitophagy Dye (Dojindo, Japan) at 37°C for 30 minutes. After incubation, media were removed, and cells were treated with rotenone for 48 hours. Principally, Mitophagy Dye is firstly accumulated in the mitochondria. The strong fluorescent intensity will be presented after mitochondria fuse to lysosome representing the mitophagy process (Figure 18). Mitotophagy was then detected by a microplate reader at an excitation wavelength of 485 nm and an emission wavelength of 520 nm.



Figure 18 Principle of mitophagy detection (Dojindo, 2016)

# 3.2.2.7 Protein expression

SH-SY5Y cells were seeded in 6-well plates at a density of 2 x 10<sup>6</sup> cells/2 mL. After incubation with ECa233 for 12 hours followed by rotenone for 24 hours (Kang et al., 2017; Xiong et al., 2013), cells were collected for further analysis of autophagy and apoptosis-associated proteins using western blot analysis. The primary antibodies used in this study included Bax (1:1000, Cell signaling technology, USA), Bcl2 (1:1000, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) and caspase 3 (1:1000, Cell signaling technology, USA) for apoptosis pathway and LC3I/II (1:1000, Cell signaling technology, USA), and Beclin-1(1:1000, Cell signaling technology, USA) for mitophagy pathway and GAPDH (1:1000, Merck Millipore, Germany). The level of GAPDH protein was used for normalization of protein loading. The band density was measured using Image J software.

# 3.3 Statistical analysis

For *in vivo* study, results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of experimental data obtained from 5 – 10 rats. Differences among means were tested using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by Fisher's LSD post-hoc test. The results on the experimental day 21 (apomorphine challenge) were compared and analyzed with the results on an experimental day 20 using the dependent t-test. The mean differences were considered to be statistical significance when the P value was lesser than 0.05.

For *in vitro* study, three independent experiments were conducted. The results were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. and were analyzed using one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's test or Fisher's LSD post-hoc test. The mean differences were considered to be statistical significance when the P value was lesser than 0.05.



**Chulalongkorn University** 

# CHAPTER 4

# RESULTS

# 4.1 In vivo study

# 4.1.1 Locomotor activity

## 4.1.1.1 Total distances

The distances of rats were measured on experimental day 1, 14, 17, and 20. On day 1 as a baseline, the locomotor activity of rats was not different among the experimental groups. The mean distances of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups on day 1 were 2,356  $\pm$  127.9, 2,324  $\pm$  132, 2,485  $\pm$  136.1, 2,208  $\pm$  129.9 and 2,384  $\pm$ 153.6 cm, respectively (F (4, 45) = 0.5399, p = 0.7072, one-way ANOVA). The average distances of rats were also not significantly different on day 14, suggesting no motor-stimulating effect of ECa233 (F (4, 45) = 0.6139, p = 0.6548, one-way ANOVA). The average distances of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups on day 14 were 2297 ± 96.71, 2160 ± 138.8, 2264 ± 68.41, 2065 ± 72.49 and 2146 ± 182 cm, respectively. On day 17, the average distances of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were 2320  $\pm$  151.2, 1058  $\pm$ 153.6, 833.2 ± 116.1, 1259 ± 210.3 and 1178 ± 171.9 cm, respectively. One-way ANOVA revealed a significant effect of treatment on rat's distances (F (4, 45) = 12.42, p<0.0001) which rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups showed a significant decrease of mean distances compared to control (p<0.001, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). On day 20, the average distances of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were 2203 ± 150.8, 768.2 ± 64.1, 835.7 ± 94.79, 1278 ± 153.3 and 917.3 ± 126.3 cm, respectively. One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference among experimental groups (F (4, 45) = 23.44, p<0.0001). Rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups showed a significant decrease of mean distances compared to control (p<0.0001, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). However, the average distances of PD-ECa30 rats were significantly higher than those of PD, PD-ECa10 and PD-ECa100 rats (p<0.01, p<0.05, p<0.05, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) (Figure 19).





Figure 19 demonstrates the distances of rats on day 14, 17 and 20. The distances were expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n=10/group). \*\*\*\*p<0.0001 compared to control group, ##p<0.01 compared to PD (Fisher's LSD post-hoc test).

# 4.1.1.2 Locomotion time

The locomotion time of rats was measured on experimental day 1, 14, 17, and 20. At baseline, mean locomotion time of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups were 216.5 ± 10, 228.5 ± 5.5,  $226.3 \pm 4.4$ ,  $231 \pm 6$  and  $233.6 \pm 7.6$  s, respectively (F (4, 45) = 0.88, p = 0.4835, one-way ANOVA). On day 14, the mean locomotion time of rats was not significantly different indicating no motor-stimulating effect of ECa233 in rats (F (4, 45) = 0.3466, p = 0.8450, one-way ANOVA). The mean locomotion time of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups on day 14 were 207  $\pm$  7.6, 218.3  $\pm$  6.5, 209  $\pm$  6.7, 213  $\pm$ 6.2 and 215.4  $\pm$  11 s, respectively. On day 17, the average distances of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were  $211.8 \pm 8.6$ ,  $155.7 \pm 11.2$ ,  $128.6 \pm 12.8$ ,  $162.8 \pm 15.9$  and  $160.5 \pm 12.3$  s, respectively. Rotenone treatment caused motor impairments in rats as locomotion time of rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were significantly lower than that of controls (p<0.01, p<0.0001, p<0.01, and p<0.01 respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). On day 20, the average distances of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were 209.4  $\pm$  4.5, 142.7  $\pm$  7, 138.8  $\pm$  12.5, 167.4  $\pm$  12.4 and 140 ± 11.7 s, respectively. One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference among experimental groups (F (4, 45) = 8.843, p<0.0001). Rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups showed a significant decrease of mean distances compared to control (p<0.0001, p<0.0001, p<0.01 and p<0.0001, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) (Figure 20).





# 4.1.1.3 Resting time

The resting time of rats was measured on experimental day 1, 14, 17, and 20. On day 1, the mean resting time of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were  $81.5 \pm 8.9$ ,  $71.6 \pm 5.6$ ,  $73.6 \pm 4.5$ ,  $68.9\pm 6$  and  $66.4\pm 7.6$  s, respectively. There was no significant difference among the experimental groups at baseline (F (4, 45) = 0.7428, p = 0.5679). The mean resting time of rats on day 14 showed no motorstimulating effect of ECa233 as the mean resting time of all groups were not significantly different (F (4, 45) = 0.2631, p = 0.9001, one-way ANOVA). The average resting time of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups on day 14 were  $93 \pm 7.6$ ,  $83.8 \pm 6.5$ ,  $91 \pm 6.7$ ,  $87 \pm 6.2$ and 84.6  $\pm$  11 s, respectively. On day 17, the mean resting time of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were 88.2 ± 8.6,  $144.1 \pm 11$ ,  $171.4 \pm 12.8$ ,  $136.2 \pm 15.3$  and  $139.5 \pm 12.3$  s, respectively. One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference among groups (F (4, 45) = 6.056, p<0.001). Rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups showed a significant increase of mean resting time compared to control, suggesting motor deficits induced by rotenone (p<0.01, p<0.0001, p<0.01, and p<0.01, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). Additionally, rats in PD-ECa30 had lower resting time compared to PD-ECa10 (p<0.05, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). On day 20, the average distances of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were 90  $\pm$  4, 157.3  $\pm$  7,  $161.2 \pm 12.5$ ,  $132.1 \pm 12$  and  $160 \pm 11.7$  s, respectively. One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference among groups (F (4, 45) = 9.219, p<0.0001). Rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups showed a significant increase of mean resting time compared to control (p<0.0001, p<0.0001, p<0.01 and p<0.0001, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). Moreover, the mean resting time of PD-ECa30 rats was significantly decreased compared to that of PD-ECa10 rats (p<0.05, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) (Figure 21).





# 4.1.2 Apomorphine challenge

To determine whether locomotor deficits were a dopaminedependent, apomorphine, a dopamine agonist, was subcutaneously injected to all rats on day 21. Rat's behaviors in the open field were then measured 5 minutes after injection. The mean distances on the day 21 of rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were significantly higher than those of the same groups on day 20 (p<0.001, p<0.001, p<0.05 and p<0.001, respectively, paired t-test) (Figure 22A). There was no significant difference of the mean distances between day 20 and day 21 in the control group.

In the same way, the mean locomotion time of rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups on day 21 were significantly higher than those of the same groups on day 20 (p<0.01, p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.01, respectively, paired t-test), while there was no change in controls (Figure 22B).

In addition, the mean resting time of rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups on day 21 were significantly lower than those of the same groups on day 20 (p<0.01, p<0.001, p<0.01 and p<0.01, respectively, paired t-test) (Figure 22C). There was no significant difference of the mean resting time between day 20 and day 21 in the control group.



and resting time **(C)** were represented as mean ± S.E.M. (n=10/group) \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01, \*\*\*p<0.001; Paired t-test.

## 4.1.3 TH-positive neurons in the substantia nigra

The dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra were stained with anti- tyrosine hydroxylase antibody and observed under the microscope (Figure 23A). The average numbers of TH-positive neurons in the substantia nigra of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30, and PD-ECa100 groups were 720  $\pm$  11.85, 532  $\pm$  28.26, 544.8  $\pm$  42.03, 793.4  $\pm$ 50.69 and 650 ± 54.53 cells, respectively (Figure 23B). One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference among groups (F (4, 20) = 7.64, p=0.0007). Rats in PD and PD-ECa10 showed significantly lower in the numbers of TH-positive neurons than those of controls (p<0.01 and p<0.01, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) There was no significant difference in the numbers of TH-positive neurons of rats in PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups compared to those of controls. Furthermore, the numbers of TH-positive neurons in ECa30 rats was significantly higher than that of PD (p<0.001, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test), suggesting the protective effect of ECa233 (30 mg/kg) against rotenone-induced dopaminergic neuronal death.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 23 Expression of tyrosine hydroxylase positive neurons in the substantia nigra were observed under a microscope (A). The number of TH-positive neuron in each group was counted individually and expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n = 5/group) (B). \*\*p<0.01 compared to control, ###p<0.001 compared to PD, Fisher's LSD posthoc test.

# 4.1.4 The intensity of TH-positive neurons in the striatum

The dopaminergic fibers in the striatum were stained with antityrosine hydroxylase antibody and observed under the microscope (Figure 24A). The mean intensity of TH-positive fibers in the striatum of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups were 23.92  $\pm$  0.9, 17.92  $\pm$  0.48, 18.78  $\pm$  0.64, 23.2  $\pm$  0.68 and 20.11  $\pm$  1.35, respectively (Figure 24B). One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference among groups (F (4, 25) = 9.521, p<0.0001). Rats in PD, ECa10, and ECa100 showed significantly lower in the intensity of TH-positive fibers than that of controls (p<0.0001 p<0.001 and p<0.01, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). There was no significant difference in the intensity of TH-positive fibers of rats in ECa30 compared to controls. Moreover, the numbers of TH-positive fibers in ECa30 and ECa100 were significantly higher than that of PD (p<0.0001, p<0.05, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test), indicating the protective effect of ECa233 against rotenone-induced dopaminergic axonal loss.

> จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 24 Tyrosine hydroxylase positive fibers in the striatum were observed under the microscope (A). The intensity of TH-positive fibers in each group was measured and expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n = 5/group) (B). \*\*\*p<0.001, \*\*\*\*p<0.0001 compared to control, \*p<0.05, ####p<0.0001 compared to PD, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.

# 4.1.5 Mitochondrial complex I activity

Rate of mitochondrial complex I enzyme activity of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups were 0.05064 ± 0.011,  $0.02141 \pm 0.0038$ ,  $0.0226 \pm 0.0037$ ,  $0.0411 \pm 0.0050$  and  $0.01948 \pm 0.0014$ mOD/s/mg protein, respectively. There was a significant effect of treatments on mitochondrial complex I activity among groups (F (4, 20) = 5.37, p=0.0042, one-way ANOVA). Mitochondrial complex I activity of rats in PD, PD-ECa10 and PD-ECa100 were significantly lower than that of the controls (p<0.01, p<0.01 and p<0.01, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). There was no significant difference of mitochondrial complex I enzyme activity between control and ECa30 rats. Moreover. mitochondrial complex I enzyme activity in ECa30 rats was significantly higher than that of PD rats (p<0.05, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) (Figure 25). The results indicated that ECa233 protected mitochondrial complex I dysfunction induced by rotenone.

#### 4.1.6 MDA levels

Malondialdehyde (MDA) levels in the brain tissues were detected to represent lipid peroxidation levels in the brains. MDA levels of rats in control, PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups were 8.899  $\pm$  0.35, 11  $\pm$  0.56, 10.52  $\pm$  0.53, 9.716 $\pm$  0.32 and 10.46  $\pm$  0.32  $\mu$ M/mg protein, respectively. One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference among groups (F (4, 20) = 3.68, p=0.0211). MDA levels of rats in PD, ECa10 and ECa100 were significantly higher than that of the controls (p<0.01, p<0.05 and p<0.05, respectively, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). Brain's MDA levels of PD-ECa30 was not different from control and. Moreover, Brain's MDA level of ECa30 rats was significantly lower than that of PD rats (p<0.05, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) (Figure 26).



Figure 25 demonstrates the effect of Eca233 on mitochondrial dysfunction induced by rotenone. The data are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n=5/group). \*\*p<0.01 compared to control group, <sup>#</sup>p<0.05 compared to PD, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.



Figure 26 demonstrates the MDA levels in the rat's brains. The data are presented as MDA mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n=5/group). \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 compared to control, #p<0.05 compared to PD, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.

# 4.1.7 Antioxidant enzymes expression

SOD and catalase expression were measured using western blot technique. There was a significant difference in SOD expression among the groups (F (4, 20) = 3.05, p=0.0409, one-way ANOVA). SOD expression of PD rats was significantly lower than that of controls (p<0.05, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). In addition, SOD expression of ECa30 rats was significantly higher than that of PD (p<0.01, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) (Figure 27).

One-way ANOVA revealed a significant difference of catalase expression among groups (F (4, 20) = 2.488, p=0.0762). Catalase expression of PD rats was significantly lower than that of controls (p<0.05, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test). However, catalase expression of rats in PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 were significantly higher than that of PD (p<0.05, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test) (Figure 28).






# จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Figure 27 demonstrates the expression of SOD (A) and SOD densities (B) The data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n = 5/group). \*p<0.05 compared to control, <sup>##</sup>p< 0.01 compared to PD, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.

60





#### หาลงกรณมหาวิทยาลัย

Figure 28 demonstrates the expression of CAT(A) and catalase densities (B). The data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. (n = 5/group). \*p<0.05 compared to control, \*p<0.05 compared to PD, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.

## 4.2.1 Determination of non-toxic concentrations of ECa233

Cell viability of SH-SY5Y cells was determined after 12-hour incubation with ECa233 5, 10, 25, 50, and 100  $\mu$ g/mL. There was no significant difference in cell viability among concentrations. The results indicated that ECa233 up to 100  $\mu$ g/mL has no toxicity to SH-SY5Y cells (**Figure 29**).



# 4.2.2 Determination of toxic concentrations of rotenone

To determine toxic concentrations of rotenone, SH-SY5Y cells were incubated with rotenone for 48 hours. Rotenone (50-1000  $\mu$ M) significantly reduced cell viability compared to control (p<0.01) (Figure 30). Therefore, 500 nM of rotenone was selected for further cytotoxicity induction as it could reduce cell viability to 57.33 ± 3.65%.



Figure 30 The cytotoxic effect of rotenone on cell viability. Data are presented as mean ± S.E.M. of three independent experiments.

# 4.2.3 The protective effects of ECa233 against rotenone-induced cytotoxicity

To determine the protective effects of ECa233, cells were pretreated with ECa233 for 12 hours, followed by 500 nM rotenone for 48 hours. Rotenone treatment decreased cell viability significantly compared to controls (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc test). Pretreatment with ECa233 (10, 25, 50 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) significantly increased cell viability compared to rotenone-treated alone (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc test), indicating the protective effects of ECa233 against rotenone induced-cytotoxicity in SH-SY5Y (Figure 31).



Figure 31 The protective effects of ECa233 against rotenone-induced cytotoxicity in SH-SY5Y cell. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. ##p<0.01 compared to control, \*\*p<0.01 compared to rotenone treated alone, Tukey's post-hoc test.

# 4.2.4 The effect of ECa233 on rotenone-induced intracellular ROS levels

Intracellular ROS levels were determined at 6, 24, and 48 hours after rotenone treatment. Rotenone significantly increased intracellular ROS levels at 6 and 24 hours (p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively), but not 48 hours after treatment. ECa233 (50 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) pretreatment significantly decreased intracellular ROS induced by rotenone at 24 hours after rotenone treatment (p<0.05, Tukey's post-hoc test ) (Figure 32). This effect of ECa233 was not present at 6 and 48 hours after rotenone incubation.



Figure 32 demonstrates intracellular ROS levels at 6 (A), 24 (B), and 48 hours (C) after rotenone incubation. Data are represented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. p<0.05, p<0.01 compared to control, p<0.05 compared to rotenone-treated alone.

# 4.2.5 The effect of ECa233 on rotenone-induced mitochondrial membrane potential reduction

Mitochondria membrane potentials were measured using TMRE fluorescent intensity. Rotenone significantly decreased TMRE fluorescent intensity compared to control (p<0.01). Pretreatment with ECa233 25, 50, and 100 µg/mL significantly increased TMRE fluorescent intensity compared to rotenone-treated alone (p<0.01, Tukey's post-hoc test) (Figure 33). These results suggested that ECa233 pretreatment prevented against mitochondrial membrane potential loss induced by rotenone.



Figure 33 demonstrates the TMRE intensity. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. <sup>##</sup>p<0.01 compared to control, \*\*p<0.01 compared to rotenone-treated alone.

## 4.2.6 Mitophagy enhancing effect of ECa233

Mitophagy was detected using Mito dye staining and presented as Mito dye fluorescent intensity. ECa233 (100  $\mu$ g/mL) treated alone had no effect on mitophagy. Rotenone treatment significantly decreased mitophagy compared to control (p<0.01). Pretreatment with ECa233 25, 50 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL increased mitophagy significantly compared to rotenone-treated alone, (p<0.05, p<0.01, and p<0.01, respectively) (Figure 34).



Figure 34 Effects of rotenone and ECa233 on mitophagy. Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. <sup>##</sup>p<0.01 compared to control, \*p<0.05, \*\* p<0.01 compared to rotenone-treated alone.

# 4.2.7 Mitophagy associated protein expression

Beclin-1, LC3-I, and LC3-II protein expressions were measured using western blot technique. ECa233 (100  $\mu$ g/mL) did not affect Beclin-1 protein expression. Rotenone treatment tended to decrease Beclin-1 protein expression, but this effect was not significantly different from control. ECa233 (50 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) pretreatment significantly increased Beclin-1 protein expression (p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively) compared to retenone-treated alone **(Figure 35)**.

ECa233 (100  $\mu$ g/mL) had no effect on mitophagy LC3II/LC3I ratio. Rotenone treatment tended to increase LC3II/LC3I ratio. ECa233 (50 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) significantly increased LC3II/LC3I ratio compared to rotenone-treated alone (p<0.05) (Figure 36).





Figure 35 demonstrates the expression of Beclin-1 (A) and Beclin-1 densities (B). Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 compared to rotenone-treated alone, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.





**Figure 36** demonstrates the expression of LC3-II and LC3-I **(A)** and LC3-II/LC3-I ratio **(B)**. Data are expressed as mean ± S.E.M. of three independent experiments. \*p<0.05 compared to rotenone-treated alone, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.

69

# 4.2.8 Apoptotic protein expression

The expressions of Bcl-2, Bax, and caspase-3 were measured using western blot technique. While rotenone treatment did not significantly decreased Bcl-2 expression, the expression of Bcl-2 in ECa233 (50 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) pretreated cells were significantly higher than that of rotenone-treated alone (p<0.01) (Figure 37).

Rotenone treatment significantly increased Bax expression (p<0.01), while ECa233 (25, 50 and 100  $\mu$ g/mL) significantly reduced Bax expression compared to rotenone-treated alone (p<0.05, p<0.05 and p<0.01, respectively) (Figure 38).



**CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY** 



# Figure 37 demonstrates the expression Bcl-2 (A) and LC3-II/LC3-I ratio (B). demonstrates the /GAPDH densities. Data are expressed as mean $\pm$ S.E.M. of three independent experiments. \*\*p<0.01 compared to rotenone-treated alone, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.



Α

Figure 38 demonstrates the Bax/GAPDH densities. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. <sup>##</sup>p<0.01 compared to control, \*p<0.05, \*\*p<0.01 compared to rotenone-treated alone, Fisher's LSD post-hoc test.

The markers of apoptosis, caspase-3, and cleaved-caspase 3 were measured using western blot technique. Rotenone treatment significantly increased cleaved-caspase3/caspase-3 ratio while ECa233 (25, 50 and 100 ug/mL) have a significantly lower of cleaved-caspase3/casepase-3 expression than that of rotenone-treated alone (p<0.01) (Figure 39).



Figure 39 demonstrates the cleaved-caspase 3/caspase 3 densities. Data are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. of three independent experiments. <sup>##</sup>p<0.01 compared to control, \*\*p<0.01 compared to rotenone-treated alone.

# CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The present study aimed to investigate the neuroprotective effects and the underlying mechanisms of the standardized extract of Centella asiatica ECa233 against rotenone model of Parkinson's disease in vivo and in vitro. It was showed that ECa233 pretreatment ameliorated locomotor deficits and dopaminergic neuronal loss in rats. The neuroprotective effects of ECa233 mediated through mitochondrial complex I protection, the decrease of lipid peroxidation and the increases of SOD and catalase expression in rat brains. In the in vitro study, ECa233 preserved cell viability in SH-SY5Y cells. The neuroprotective effects were intracellular ROS reduction, mitochondrial membrane potential protection and mitophagy enhancement.

# 5.1 ECa233 exhibits neuroprotective effects in rotenone-induced rat model of Parkinson's disease

Rotenone was used in this study to generate parkinsonism behaviors in rats. Rats pretreated with ECa233 (30 mg/kg) showed a significant improvement in locomotor activities compared to rotenone-treated alone, indicating that ECa233 protected against rotenone-induced locomotor impairment. These findings are in consistent with previous studies reporting that asiaticoside and madecassoside improved motor performance in MPTP-induced parkinsonism rats (Xu et al., 2013; Xu et al., 2012). Pharmacokinetic studies revealed the presence of madecassoside and asiaticoside in brain tissues after single and multiple dosing of ECa233. (Anukunwithaya et al., 2017b, Hengjumrut et al., 2017). Therefore, madecassoside and asiaticoside could be accounted for the protective effect of ECa233 in rotenone-induced parkinsonism in this study.

Loss of dopaminergic neurons in the nigrostriatal pathway is the main pathology in Parkinson's disease (Connolly et al. 2014). The decrease in TH-positive neurons in the substantia nigra and the axon intensities in the striatum of rats receiving rotenone were observed in the present study, while pretreatment of ECa233 (30 mg/kg) preserved both lesions. Therefore, all the behavioral parameters improved in rats receiving ECa233 (30 mg/kg) is due to an increase of viability of neurons in the nigrostriatal pathway. It was notable that a higher dose of ECa233 (100 mg/kg) had a subtle effect in the protection of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra but significantly preserved dopaminergic axon terminals in the striatum. This might be due to the neuritogenic effect of ECa233 seen previously in IMR-32 neuroblastoma cells (Wanakhachornkrai et al., 2013). A recent study also showed that madecassoside, asiaticoside, madecassic acid and asiatic acid increased percent neurite bearing cell and neurite length in N2a cells (Nalinratana et al., 2018). The increase in axon density results in the higher dopamine release at the synapse and subsequently reversed parkinsonism behaviors. As the survival of cell bodies and axonal fibers can be mediated through separate mechanisms (Ries et al., 2008). Therefore, the ability to promote axonal regeneration might be another neuroprotective mechanism of ECa233.

The motor symptoms in Parkinson's disease link to the loss of dopaminergic neurons projecting from the substantia nigra to the striatum. In this study, ECa233 (30 mg/kg) preserved dopaminergic neurons and axonal fibers in the nigrostriatal pathway while the locomotor activity of PD-ECa rats seem not to be fully recovered compared to control rats. This might be due to the systemic toxicity of rotenone causing health-related locomotor problems. Previous study has revealed that chronic rotenone administration in rats caused severe weight loss , hypokinetic behaviors, enlarged stomach, liver necrosis and severe muscle mass loss (LAPOINTE et al., 2004). Therefore, systemic toxicity of rotenone could be accounted for the uncorrelated results seen in behavior and histological study.

Mitochondrial dysfunction plays an important role in the progress of Parkinson's disease (Winklhofer & Haass, 2010). Deficiency in mitochondrial NADH dehydrogenase (Complex I) activity has been reported in the substantia nigra as well as platelets and lymphocytes of Parkinson's disease patients (Schapira et al., 1990). Therefore, protecting mitochondria function is the promising strategy for the treatment of Parkinson's disease. Previous studies showed that madecassoside and asiatic acid could protect against mitochondrial membrane potential reduction induced by  $H_2O_2$  and rotenone *in vitro*, respectively (Bian et al., 2012, Nataraj et al., 2017). Our study is the first to demonstrate the protection of mitochondrial complex I enzyme activity against rotenone toxicity *in vivo*.

An increase in oxidative stress and a decrease in protective mechanisms contribute to cell death in Parkinson's disease (Ogunro et al., 2014). ECa233 decreased lipid peroxidation and increased antioxidant enzyme expression in rotenone models. This finding is in agreement with previous studies, which reported the antioxidative effects of *C. asiatica* extract, madecassoside and asiaticoside in MPTP models (Bhatnagar et al., 2017, Haleagrahara and Ponnusamy, 2010, Xu et al., 2012, Xu et al., 2013). The protection of mitochondrial function possibly contributes to the reduction of oxidative stress.

The neuroprotective effects of ECa233 appeared to be dose independent. ECa233 (30 mg/kg) markedly alleviated rotenoneinduced toxicity, while the subtle effect of ECa233 (100 mg/kg) was presented. The roles of efflux transporters may explain this observation as madecassoside is a substrate of p-glycoprotein and multi-drug-resistant protein (Leng et al., 2013). In addition, asiatic acid, a component of *C. asiatica* extract and a metabolite of asiaticoside, could induce p-glycoprotein expression *in vitro* (Abuznait et al., 2011). Furthermore, Anukunwithaya et al. (2017a) have reported the increase of *Abcb1a* and *Abcc2* mRNA expressions in the small intestine of rats receiving ECa233 100 mg/kg for seven consecutive days. Taken together, the induction of multi-drug-resistant genes and the role of efflux transporter can lead to a subtle effect of ECa233 100 mg/kg.

# 5.2 ECa233 protected against neurotoxicity of rotenone in SH-SY5Y

*In vivo* results demonstrated the neuroprotective effects of ECa233 against rotenone toxicity in rats. Madecassoside and asiaticoside could be accounted for the protective effects of ECa233 as they were found in brain of rats after single and multiple dosing of ECa233 (Anukunwithaya et al., 2017b; Hengjumrut et al., 2017). The results in animals demonstrated that neuroprotective

mechanisms of ECa233 are mediated through mitochondria protection and antioxidative effect. Therefore, to gain insight the neuroprotective mechanisms of ECa233, we further investigated molecular neuroprotective mechanisms of ECa233 *in vitro* using SH-SY5Y cells.

Overproduction of ROS and oxidative stress are associated with the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. Previous study demonstrated that scavenging of ROS could slow the progress of the neurodegenerative diseases, including Parkinson's disease (Bayani et al., 2009). Therefore, regulating ROS generation and oxidative stress are an effective therapeutic strategy in Parkinson's disease. Our study demonstrated the reduction of intracellular ROS levels induced by rotenone at 24 hours but not 6 and 48 hours. Therefore, we hypothesize that the protective mechanism of ECa233 is not mediated through the direct scavenging mechanism as a direct antioxidant scavenger is supposed to decrease ROS levels at an early hour (Dinkova-Kostova & Talalay, 2008). One possible neuroprotective mechanism is the induction of antioxidant enzymes as seen previously in the in vivo study. Moreover, previous studies also demonstrated that Centella asiatica extract, asiaticoside, asiatic acid and madecassoside increased the expression of Nrf2, a transcription factor involving the upregulation of antioxidant gene (Gray et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2017; Wang et al., 2018). Therefore, the activation of Nrf2 could be the key signal of ECa233-induced cytoprotective against rotenone tocixity.

The accumulations of toxic proteins and defected organelles especially defected mitochondria have been proposed as the important pathology of Parkinson's disease (Ryan et al., 2015). Defected mitochondria are the main source of intracellular ROS generation (Winklhofer & Haass, 2010). Basal expression of mitophagy acts as one of the cytoprotective mechanisms and participates in maintaining cellular homeostasis (Hara et al., 2006; Dadakhujaev et al., 2010). Previous studies reported the decreases of mitophagy levels and its protein markers, Beclin-1 and LC3II/I, in SHSY5Y and PC12 cells after rotenone treatment (Wu et al., 2015; Xiong et al., 2013; Yuan et al., 2015), which are in accordance with our study. Pretreatment with ECa233 enhanced mitophagy against rotenone toxicity and increased the expression of autophagy-associated protein Beclin-1 and LC3II/LC3I ratio. As dysfunctional mitochondria are the main sources of ROS in cells, removing defected mitochondria via induction of mitophagy is proposed as one of neuroprotective mechanism of ECa233.

Pretreatment with ECa233 protected against rotenone-induced mitochondrial membrane potential reduction. The decrease of mitochondrial membrane potential can initiate mitochondriadependent apoptosis and mitophagy (Anding & Baehrecke, 2017; Martinez-Vicente, 2017). Therefore, modulating mitochondrial membrane potential is benefit for protecting neuronal death. Previously, Centella asiatica extract treatment stabilized voltagedependent anion channel (VDAC) in the open state, causing neuroprotection in N2a cells (Tewari et al., 2016). As the loss of mitochondrial membrane potential is the result of the opening of VDAC, we hypothesize that another protective mechanism of ECa233 might involve the modulation of mitochondrial membrane potential via VDAC. However, to clarify the mechanism of how ECa233 modulate VDAC-related mitochondrial membrane potential reduction, further study should be conducted.

Neuronal apoptosis is one of the important pathological features of Parkinson's disease. To further explore the mechanism of neuroprotection of ECa233, apoptosis-associated proteins including

Bcl-2, Bax, and caspase-3 were measured. In the present study, Bcl-2 expression was increased following ECa233 treatment while Bax expression was significantly decreased. This increased Bcl-2 levels can counteract Bax by forming a heterodimer preventing the mitochondrial-dependent apoptosis (Kobayashi et al., 1998). The result was in accordance with previous studies showing that asiatic acid and asiaticoside prevented neuronal apoptosis by the increase of Bcl-2 and the decrease of Bax proteins (Nataraj et al., 2017; Sun et al., 2015). In this study, ECa233 pretreatment caused the reduction of cleaved-caspase3/caspase3 ratio resulting in the anti-apoptotic effects of ECa233. Therefore, our study has demonstrated that ECa233 can alleviate rotenone-induced neuronal cell death by regulating apoptosis regulator BCL-2 family proteins.

# 5.3 Conclusion

We found that pretreatment of ECa233 not only improved the movement dysfunction induced by rotenone but also preserved the dopaminergic neurons and their axonal fibers in the nigrostriatal pathway. The neuroprotective mechanisms of ECa233 *in vivo* are involved in the protection of mitochondrial complex I activity, a decrease in lipid peroxidation and the elevation of antioxidant enzyme expression. For the molecular mechanisms of ECa233, pretreatment of ECa233 preserved cell viability via antioxidative effect, mitophagy enhancing effect, the increase of anti-apoptotic protein and the decrease of pro-apoptotic proteins. Therefore, ECa233 should be developed as a therapeutic agent against Parkinson's disease. To gain insight into other molecular mechanisms of ECa233, we suggest investigating survival signaling pathway in Parkinson's disease-precision models in the future.

## REFERENCES

- Ambrosi, G., Cerri, S., & Blandini, F. (2014). A further update on the role of excitotoxicity in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neural Transmission*, *121*(8), 849-859. doi:10.1007/s00702-013-1149-z
- Anand, T., Mahadeva, N., Phani, K. G., & Farhath, K. (2010). Antioxidant and DNA Damage Preventive Properties of Centella asiatica (L) Urb. *Pharmacognosy Journal, 2*(17), 53-58. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0975-3575(10)80010-0</u>
- Anding, A. L., & Baehrecke, E. H. (2017). Cleaning House: Selective Autophagy of Organelles. *Developmental Cell, 41*(1), 10-22. doi:<u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.devcel.2017.02.016</u>
- Anukunwithaya, T., Tantisira, M. H., Shimada, T., Sai, Y., & Khemawoot, P. (2017a). Multiple Oral Dosing Pharmacokinetics of Standardized Extract of Centella asiatica ECa 233 and Its Inductive Effect on Efflux Transporters in Rats. *PMIO*, 4(02), e66-e73. doi:10.1055/s-0043-114669
- Anukunwithaya, T., Tantisira, M. H., Tantisira, B. y., & Khemawoot, P. (2017b). Pharmacokinetics of a Standardized Extract of Centella asiatica ECa 233 in Rats. *Planta Medica*(03/04: 188-333).
- Arun, P., Madhavarao, C. N., Moffett, J. R., & Namboodiri, A. M. A. (2008). Antipsychotic drugs increase N-acetylaspartate and N-acetylaspartylglutamate in SH-SY5Y human neuroblastoma cells. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 106(4), 1669-1680. doi:doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2008.05524.x
- Barone, P., Antonini, A., Colosimo, C., Marconi, R., Morgante, L., Avarello, T. P., . . . Dotto, P. D. (2009). The PRIAMO study: A multicenter assessment of nonmotor symptoms and their impact on quality of life in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders, 24*(11), 1641-1649. doi:10.1002/mds.22643
- Bayani, U., Ajay, V. S., Paolo, Z., & Mahajan, R. T. (2009). Oxidative Stress and Neurodegenerative Diseases: A Review of Upstream and Downstream Antioxidant Therapeutic Options. *Current neuropharmacology, 7*(1), 65-74. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/157015909787602823</u>

- Bhidayasiri, R., Wannachai, N., Limpabandhu, S., Choeytim, S., Suchonwanich, Y., Tananyakul, S., . . . Asawavichienjinda, T. (2011). A National Registry to Determine the Distribution and Prevalence of Parkinson's Disease in Thailand: Implications of Urbanization and Pesticides as Risk Factors for Parkinson's Disease. *Neuroepidemiology*, *37*(3-4), 222-230. doi:10.1159/000334440
- Billingsley, K. J., Bandres-Ciga, S., Saez-Atienzar, S., & Singleton, A. B. (2018). Genetic risk factors in Parkinson's disease. *Cell and tissue research, 373*(1), 9-20. doi:10.1007/s00441-018-2817-y
- Bonifati, V., Rizzu, P., van Baren, M. J., Schaap, O., Breedveld, G. J., Krieger, E., . . . Heutink, P. (2003). Mutations in the <em&gt;DJ-1&lt;/em&gt; Gene Associated with Autosomal Recessive Early-Onset Parkinsonism. *Science, 299*(5604), 256. doi:10.1126/science.1077209
- Bosco, D. A., Fowler, D. M., Zhang, Q., Nieva, J., Powers, E. T., Wentworth, P., . . . Kelly, J. W. (2006). Elevated levels of oxidized cholesterol metabolites in Lewy body disease brains accelerate **α**-synuclein fibrilization. *Nature Chemical Biology,* 2(5), 249-253. doi:10.1038/nchembio782
- Cannon, J. R., Tapias, V., Na, H. M., Honick, A. S., Drolet, R. E., & Greenamyre, J. T. (2009). A highly reproducible rotenone model of Parkinson's disease. *Neurobiology of Disease, 34*(2), 279-290. doi:10.1016/j.nbd.2009.01.016
- Castellano, C., Cestari, V., & Ciamei, A. (2001). NMDA Receptors and Learning and Memory Processes. *Current Drug Targets, 2*(3), 273-283. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2174/1389450013348515</u>
- Chaudhuri, K. R., & Schapira, A. H. V. (2009). Non-motor symptoms of Parkinson's disease: dopaminergic pathophysiology and treatment. *The Lancet Neurology, 8*(5), 464-474. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70068-7</u>
- Chen, L.-J., Gao, Y.-Q., Li, X.-J., Shen, D.-H., & Sun, F.-Y. (2005). Melatonin protects against MPTP/MPP+-induced mitochondrial DNA oxidative damage in vivo and in vitro. *Journal of Pineal Research, 39*(1), 34-42. doi:doi:10.1111/j.1600-079X.2005.00209.x
- Cheng, C. L., & Koo, M. W. L. (2000). Effects of Centella asiatica on ethanol induced

gastric mucosal lesions in rats. *Life Sciences, 67*(21), 2647-2653. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0024-3205(00)00848-1

- Chivapat, S., Chavalittumrong, P., & Tantisira, M. H. (2011). Acute and sub chronic toxicity studies of a standardized extract of Centella asiatica ECa 233. *Thai J Pharm Sci, 35*.
- Connolly, B. S., & Lang, A. E. (2014). Pharmacological Treatment of Parkinson Disease: A ReviewPharmacological Treatment of Parkinson DiseasePharmacological Treatment of Parkinson Disease. *JAMA, 311*(16), 1670-1683. doi:10.1001/jama.2014.3654
- Dehay, B., Bové, J., Rodríguez-Muela, N., Perier, C., Recasens, A., Boya, P., & Vila, M. (2010). Pathogenic Lysosomal Depletion in Parkinson's Disease. *The Journal of Neuroscience, 30*(37), 12535-12544. doi:10.1523/jneurosci.1920-10.2010
- Dehay, B., Martinez-Vicente, M., Caldwell, G. A., Caldwell, K. A., Yue, Z., Cookson, M. R., .
  . Bezard, E. (2013). Lysosomal impairment in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders, 28*(6), 725-732. doi:10.1002/mds.25462
- Dehay, B., Vila, M., Bezard, E., Brundin, P., & Kordower, J. H. (2016). Alpha-synuclein propagation: New insights from animal models. *Movement Disorders, 31*(2), 161-168. doi:10.1002/mds.26370
- Dinkova-Kostova, A. T., & Talalay, P. (2008). Direct and indirect antioxidant properties of inducers of cytoprotective proteins. *Molecular Nutrition & Food Research, 52*(S1), S128-S138. doi:10.1002/mnfr.200700195
- Dirnagl, U., Iadecola, C., & Moskowitz, M. A. (1999). Pathobiology of ischaemic stroke: an integrated view. *Trends in Neurosciences, 22*(9), 391-397. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(99)01401-0</u>
- Dojindo. (2016). Mitophagy Detection Kit. from Dojindo Molecular Technologies, Inc http://www.dojindo.com/store/p/973-Mitophagy-Detection-Kit.html
- Dong, X.-x., Wang, Y., & Qin, Z.-h. (2009). Molecular mechanisms of excitotoxicity and their relevance to pathogenesis of neurodegenerative diseases. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica, 30*, 379. doi:10.1038/aps.2009.24
- East, Daniel A., Fagiani, F., Crosby, J., Georgakopoulos, Nikolaos D., Bertrand, H., Schaap,

M., . . . Campanella, M. (2014). PMI: A  $\Delta \Psi$ m Independent Pharmacological Regulator of Mitophagy. *Chemistry & Biology, 21*(11), 1585-1596. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2014.09.019</u>

- Fahn, S. (2003). Description of Parkinson's disease as a clinical syndrome. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 991*. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2003.tb07458.x
- Feng, J. (2006). Microtubule: a common target for Parkin and Parkinson's disease toxins. *The Neuroscientist, 12,* 469+.
- Ferreira, M., & Massano, J. (2017). An updated review of Parkinson's disease genetics and clinicopathological correlations. *Acta Neurologica Scandinavica*, 135(3), 273-284. doi:10.1111/ane.12616
- Filograna, R., Beltramini, M., Bubacco, L., & Bisaglia, M. (2016). Anti-Oxidants in Parkinson's Disease Therapy: A Critical Point of View. Current neuropharmacology, 14(3), 260-271. doi:10.2174/1570159X13666151030102718
- Filograna, R., Civiero, L., Ferrari, V., Codolo, G., Greggio, E., Bubacco, L., . . . Bisaglia, M. (2015). Analysis of the Catecholaminergic Phenotype in Human SH-SY5Y and BE(2)-M17 Neuroblastoma Cell Lines upon Differentiation. *PLOS ONE, 10*(8), e0136769. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0136769
- Fleming, S. M., Zhu, C., Fernagut, P. O., Mehta, A., DiCarlo, C. D., Seaman, R. L., & Chesselet, M. F. (2004). Behavioral and immunohistochemical effects of chronic intravenous and subcutaneous infusions of varying doses of rotenone. *Experimental Neurology*, 187(2), 418-429. doi:10.1016/j.expneurol.2004.01.023
- Fu, W., Zhuang, W., Zhou, S., & Wang, X. (2015). Plant-derived neuroprotective agents in Parkinson's disease. American Journal of Translational Research, 7(7), 1189-1202.
- Gaki, G. S., & Papavassiliou, A. G. (2014). Oxidative Stress-Induced Signaling Pathways Implicated in the Pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease. *NeuroMolecular Medicine*, *16*(2), 217-230. doi:10.1007/s12017-014-8294-x
- Gallegos, S., Pacheco, C., Peters, C., Opazo, C. M., & Aguayo, L. G. (2015). Features of alpha-synuclein that could explain the progression and irreversibility of Parkinson's disease. *Frontiers in neuroscience*, *9*, 59-59.

doi:10.3389/fnins.2015.00059

- George, M., Joseph, L., & Ramaswamy. (2009). Anti-Allergic, Anti-Pruritic, and Anti-Inflammatory Activities of Centella Asiatica Extracts. *African Journal of Traditional, Complementary, and Alternative Medicines, 6*(4), 554-559.
- Gohil, K. J., Patel, J. A., & Gajjar, A. K. (2010). Pharmacological Review on Centella asiatica: A Potential Herbal Cure-all. *Indian Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *72*(5), 546-556. doi:10.4103/0250-474X.78519
- Gray, N. E., Zweig, J. A., Matthews, D. G., Caruso, M., Quinn, J. F., & Soumyanath, A. (2017). Centella asiatica Attenuates Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Oxidative Stress in Aβ-Exposed Hippocampal Neurons. Oxidative medicine and cellular longevity, 2017, 7023091-7023091. doi:10.1155/2017/7023091
- Guerrero, E., Vasudevaraju, P., Hegde, M. L., Britton, G. B., & Rao, K. S. (2013). Recent Advances in **α**-Synuclein Functions, Advanced Glycation, and Toxicity: Implications for Parkinson's Disease. *Molecular Neurobiology*, 47(2), 525-536. doi:10.1007/s12035-012-8328-z
- Günther, B., & Wagner, H. (1996). Quantitative determination of triterpenes in extracts and phytopreparations of Centella asiatica (L.) urban. *Phytomedicine*, *3*(1), 59-65. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0944-7113(96)80011-0</u>
- Haddad, D., & Nakamura, K. (2015). Understanding the susceptibility of dopamine neurons to mitochondrial stressors in Parkinson's disease. *FEBS Letters, 589*(24, Part A), 3702-3713. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.febslet.2015.10.021</u>
- Halbach, O. (2005). Modeling neurodegenerative diseases in vivo review. *Neurodegeneration Dis, 2.* doi:10.1159/000092318
- Haleagrahara, N., & Ponnusamy, K. (2010). Neuroprotective effect of <i>Centella asiatica</i> extract (CAE) on experimentally induced parkinsonism in aged Sprague-Dawley rats. *The Journal of Toxicological Sciences, 35*(1), 41-47. doi:10.2131/jts.35.41
- Hengjumrut, P., Anukunwithaya, T., Tantisira, M. H., Tantisira, B., & Khemawoot, P. (2017). Comparative pharmacokinetics between madecassoside and asiaticoside presented in a standardised extract of Centella asiatica, ECa 233 and their

respective pure compound given separately in rats. *Xenobiotica*, 1-10. doi:10.1080/00498254.2016.1273562

- Hirsch, E. C., & Hunot, S. (2009). Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease: a target for neuroprotection? *The Lancet Neurology, 8*(4), 382-397. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(09)70062-6</u>
- Huiyi Jiang, Y. Y., Shicheng Liu, Mingqin Zhu, Xiang Dong, Jinying Wu, Zhou Zhang, Ming Zhang, Ying Zhang (2019). Proteomic Study of a Parkinson's Disease Model of Undifferentiated SH-SY5Y Cells Induced by a Proteasome Inhibitor. *Int J Med Sci,* 16(1), 84-92. doi:doi:10.7150/ijms.28595
- Inamdar, P. K., Yeole, R. D., Ghogare, A. B., & de Souza, N. J. (1996). Determination of biologically active constituents in Centella asiatica. *Journal of Chromatography A*, *742*(1–2), 127-130. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/0021-9673(96)00237-3</u>
- Inden, M., Kitamura, Y., Takeuchi, H., Yanagida, T., Takata, K., Kobayashi, Y., . . . Shimohama, S. (2007). Neurodegeneration of mouse nigrostriatal dopaminergic system induced by repeated oral administration of rotenone is prevented by 4-phenylbutyrate, a chemical chaperone. *Journal of Neurochemistry, 101*(6), 1491-1504. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.2006.04440.x
- Irwin, D. J., Lee, V. M. Y., & Trojanowski, J. Q. (2013). Parkinson's disease dementia: convergence of  $\alpha$ -synuclein, tau and amyloid- $\beta$  pathologies. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 14,* 626. doi:10.1038/nrn3549
- Jankovic, J. (2019). Pathogenesis-targeted therapeutic strategies in Parkinson's disease. *Movement Disorders, 34*(1), 41-44. doi:10.1002/mds.27534
- Jiang, J. Z., Ye, J., Jin, G. Y., Piao, H. M., Cui, H., Zheng, M. Y., . . . Yan, G. H. (2017). Asiaticoside Mitigates the Allergic Inflammation by Abrogating the Degranulation of Mast Cells. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 65*(37), 8128-8135. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.7b01590
- Jin, S. G., Kim, K. S., Yousaf, A. M., Kim, D. W., Jang, S. W., Son, M.-W., . . . Choi, H.-G. (2015). Mechanical properties and in vivo healing evaluation of a novel Centella asiatica-loaded hydrocolloid wound dressing. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics,* 490(1–2), 240-247.

# doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2015.05.058

- Johnson, M. E., & Bobrovskaya, L. (2015). An update on the rotenone models of Parkinson's disease: Their ability to reproduce the features of clinical disease and model gene–environment interactions. *NeuroToxicology*, *46*(0), 101-116. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuro.2014.12.002</u>
- Kam-eg, A., Tantisira, B., & Tantisira, M. H. (2009). Preliminary study on effects of standardized extract of Centella asiatica, Eca 233, on deficit of learning and memory induced by an intracerebroventricular injection of  $\beta$ -amyloid peptide in mice. *Thai J Pharmacol, 31*.
- Kang, S. Y., Lee, S.-B., Kim, H. J., Kim, H.-T., Yang, H. O., & Jang, W. (2017). Autophagic modulation by rosuvastatin prevents rotenone-induced neurotoxicity in an in vitro model of Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience Letters, 642*, 20-26. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2017.01.063</u>
- Kaur, J., & Debnath, J. (2015). Autophagy at the crossroads of catabolism and anabolism. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol, 16*(8), 461-472. doi:10.1038/nrm4024
- Kim, R., Kim, H.-J., Kim, A., Jang, M., Kim, A., Kim, Y., . . Jeon, B. (2018). Peripheral blood inflammatory markers in early Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Clinical Neuroscience, 58*, 30-33. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jocn.2018.10.079</u>
- Klein, C., & Schlossmacher, M. G. (2007). Parkinson disease, 10 years after its genetic revolution: Multiple clues to a complex disorder. *Neurology, 69*(22), 2093. doi:10.1212/01.wnl.0000271880.27321.a7
- Korecka, J. A., van Kesteren, R. E., Blaas, E., Spitzer, S. O., Kamstra, J. H., Smit, A. B., . . .
  Bossers, K. (2013). Phenotypic Characterization of Retinoic Acid Differentiated
  SH-SY5Y Cells by Transcriptional Profiling. *PLOS ONE, 8*(5), e63862.
  doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0063862
- Kulthong, K., Tantisira, M., Niwattisaiwong, N., Apipalakul, K., Chevapat, S., & Lawanprasert, S. (2009). *Effects of The Standard Extract of Centella Asiatica (ECa233) on Rat Hepatic Cytochrome P450* (Vol. 33).
- Kumar, M. H., & Gupta, Y. K. (2003). Effect of Centella asiatica on cognition and oxidative stress in an intracerebroventricular streptozotocin model of Alzheimer's disease

in rats. *Clinical and Experimental Pharmacology and Physiology, 30*(5-6), 336-342. doi:10.1046/j.1440-1681.2003.03842.x

- LAPOINTE, N., ST-HILAIRE, M., MARTINOLI, M.-G., BLANCHET, J., GOULD, P., ROUILLARD, C., & CICCHETTI, F. (2004). Rotenone induces non-specific central nervous system and systemic toxicity. *The FASEB Journal, 18*(6), 717-719. doi:10.1096/fj.03-0677fje
- Lashuel, H. A., Petre, B. M., Wall, J., Simon, M., Nowak, R. J., Walz, T., & Lansbury, P. T. (2002). **α**-Synuclein, Especially the Parkinson's Disease-associated Mutants, Forms Pore-like Annular and Tubular Protofibrils. *Journal of Molecular Biology, 322*(5), 1089-1102. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-2836(02)00735-0
- Le, W. (2014). Role of iron in UPS impairment model of Parkinson's disease. *Parkinsonism & Related Disorders, 20, Supplement 1*, S158-S161. doi:<u>http://doi.org/10.1016/S1353-8020(13)70038-5</u>
- Lee, S. H., Du, J., Stitham, J., Atteya, G., Lee, S., Xiang, Y., . . . Hwa, J. (2016). Inducing mitophagy in diabetic platelets protects against severe oxidative stress. *EMBO Molecular Medicine*, 8(7), 779. doi:10.15252/emmm.201506046
- Lim, K.-L., & Zhang, c. (2013). Molecular Events Underlying Parkinson's Disease An Interwoven Tapestry. *Frontiers in Neurology*, *4*(33). doi:10.3389/fneur.2013.00033
- Ling, Y., Gong, Q., Xiong, X., Sun, L., Zhao, W., Zhu, W., & Lu, Y. (2017). Protective effect of madecassoside on H(2)O(2)-induced oxidative stress and autophagy activation in human melanocytes. *Oncotarget, 8*(31), 51066-51075. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.17654
- Lotharius, J., & Brundin, P. (2002). Pathogenesis of parkinson's disease: dopamine, vesicles and **α**-synuclein. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience, 3*, 932. doi:10.1038/nrn983
- Luk, K. C., Kehm, V., Carroll, J., Zhang, B., O'Brien, P., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M.-Y.
   (2012a). Pathological **α**-Synuclein Transmission Initiates Parkinson-like
   Neurodegeneration in Nontransgenic Mice. *Science*, *338*(6109), 949-953.
   doi:10.1126/science.1227157
- Luk, K. C., Kehm, V. M., Zhang, B., O'Brien, P., Trojanowski, J. Q., & Lee, V. M. Y. (2012b).

Intracerebral inoculation of pathological  $\alpha$ -synuclein initiates a rapidly progressive neurodegenerative  $\alpha$ -synucleinopathy in mice. *The Journal of experimental medicine, 209*(5), 975-986. doi:10.1084/jem.20112457

- Marella, B. B. S., Akemi Matsuno-Yagi and Takao Yagi. (2007). Mechanism of Cell Death Caused by Complex I Defects in a Rat Dopaminergic Cell Line. *The Journal of Biological Chemistry, 282*, 24146-24156. doi:10.1074/jbc.M701819200
- Martinez-Vicente, M. (2017). Neuronal Mitophagy in Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Frontiers in Molecular Neuroscience, 10*, 64. doi:10.3389/fnmol.2017.00064
- McCormack, A. L., Thiruchelvam, M., Manning-Bog, A. B., Thiffault, C., Langston, J. W., Cory-Slechta, D. A., & Di Monte, D. A. (2002). Environmental Risk Factors and Parkinson's Disease: Selective Degeneration of Nigral Dopaminergic Neurons Caused by the Herbicide Paraquat. *Neurobiology of Disease, 10*(2), 119-127. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1006/nbdi.2002.0507</u>
- McMillan, C. R., Sharma, R., Ottenhof, T., & Niles, L. P. (2007). Modulation of tyrosine hydroxylase expression by melatonin in human SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells. *Neuroscience Letters*, *419*(3), 202-206. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neulet.2007.04.029</u>
- Moon, H. E., & Paek, S. H. (2015). Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease. Experimental neurobiology, 24(2), 103-116. doi:10.5607/en.2015.24.2.103
- Moors, T. E., Hoozemans, J. J. M., Ingrassia, A., Beccari, T., Parnetti, L., Chartier-Harlin, M.-C., & van de Berg, W. D. J. (2017). Therapeutic potential of autophagy-enhancing agents in Parkinson's disease. *Molecular Neurodegeneration, 12*(1), 11. doi:10.1186/s13024-017-0154-3
- Morais, V. A., Haddad, D., Craessaerts, K., De Bock, P.-J., Swerts, J., Vilain, S., . . . De Strooper, B. (2014). PINK1 Loss-of-Function Mutations Affect Mitochondrial Complex I Activity via NdufA10 Ubiquinone Uncoupling. *Science*, *344*(6180), 203. doi:10.1126/science.1249161
- More, S. V., Kumar, H., Kim, I. S., Song, S.-Y., & Choi, D.-K. (2013). Cellular and Molecular Mediators of Neuroinflammation in the Pathogenesis of Parkinson's Disease. *Mediators of Inflammation, 2013,* 12. doi:10.1155/2013/952375

- Multhaup, G., Ruppert, T., Schlicksupp, A., Hesse, L., Beher, D., Masters, C. L., & Beyreuther, K. (1997). Reactive oxygen species and Alzheimer's disease. *Biochemical Pharmacology, 54*(5), 533-539. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0006-2952(97)00062-2</u>
- Nakabeppu, Y., Tsuchimoto, D., Yamaguchi, H., & Sakumi, K. (2007). Oxidative damage in nucleic acids and Parkinson's disease. *Journal of Neuroscience Research, 85*(5), 919-934. doi:10.1002/jnr.21191
- Nalinratana, N., Meksuriyen, D., & Ongpipattanakul, B. (2018). Differences in Neuritogenic Activity and Signaling Activation of Madecassoside, Asiaticoside, and Their Aglycones in Neuro-2a cells. *Planta Med, 84*(16), 1165-1173. doi:10.1055/a-0619-5710
- Nataraj, J., Manivasagam, T., Justin Thenmozhi, A., & Essa, M. M. (2017). Neuroprotective effect of asiatic acid on rotenone-induced mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress-mediated apoptosis in differentiated SH-SYS5Y cells. *Nutritional Neuroscience, 20*(6), 351-359. doi:10.1080/1028415X.2015.1135559
- Nedelsky, N. B., Todd, P. K., & Taylor, J. P. (2008). Autophagy and the ubiquitinproteasome system: collaborators in neuroprotection. *Biochimica et biophysica acta, 1782*(12), 691-699. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2008.10.002
- Nianyu Li, K. R., Gretchen Lawler, Jennie Sturgis, Bartek Rajwa, J. Andres Melendez and J. Paul Robinson. Mitochondrial Complex I Inhibitor Rotenone Induces Apoptosis through Enhancing Mitochondrial Reactive Oxygen Species Production. *Journal of Biological Chemistry, 278*, 8516-8525. doi:10.1074/jbc.M210432200
- Nisar, R., Hanson, P. S., He, L., Taylor, R. W., Blain, P. G., & Morris, C. M. (2015). Diquat causes caspase-independent cell death in SH-SY5Y cells by production of ROS independently of mitochondria. *Archives of toxicology, 89*(10), 1811-1825. doi:10.1007/s00204-015-1453-5
- Park, H. J., Zhao, T. T., Lee, K. S., Lee, S. H., Shin, K. S., Park, K. H., . . . Lee, M. K. (2015).
  Effects of (-)-sesamin on 6-hydroxydopamine-induced neurotoxicity in PC12 cells and dopaminergic neuronal cells of Parkinson's disease rat models. *Neurochemistry International, 83–84,* 19-27. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2015.01.003</u>

- Park, J.-S., Davis, R. L., & Sue, C. M. (2018). Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Parkinson's Disease: New Mechanistic Insights and Therapeutic Perspectives. *Current neurology and neuroscience reports, 18*(5), 21-21. doi:10.1007/s11910-018-0829-3
- Paxinos, G., & Watson, C. (2007). The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates. In *123Library* (6 ed.): Academic Press.
- Perier, C., Bové, J., Vila, M., & Przedborski, S. (2003). The rotenone model of Parkinson's disease. *Trends in Neurosciences, 26*(7), 345-346. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-2236(03)00144-9
- Poewe, W., Seppi, K., Tanner, C. M., Halliday, G. M., Brundin, P., Volkmann, J., . . . Lang,
  A. E. (2017). Parkinson disease. *Nature Reviews Disease Primers, 3*, 17013. doi:10.1038/nrdp.2017.13

https://www.nature.com/articles/nrdp201713#supplementary-information

- Pringsheim, T., Jette, N., Frolkis, A., & Steeves, T. D. L. (2014). The prevalence of Parkinson's disease: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Movement Disorders, 29*(13), 1583-1590. doi:10.1002/mds.25945
- Przedborski, S., Jackson-Lewis, V., Djaldetti, R., Liberatore, G., Vila, M., Vukosavi, S., & Almer, G. (2000). The parkinsonian toxin MPTP action and mechanism. *Restor Neurol Neurosci, 16*.
- Qian, L., Flood, P. M., & Hong, J.-S. (2010). Neuroinflammation is a key player in Parkinson's disease and a prime target for therapy. *Journal of Neural Transmission, 117*(8), 971-979. doi:10.1007/s00702-010-0428-1
- Rao, S. B., Chetana, M., & Uma Devi, P. (2005). Centella asiatica treatment during postnatal period enhances learning and memory in mice. *Physiology & Behavior*, *86*(4), 449-457. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2005.07.019</u>
- Rego, A. C., & Oliveira, C. R. (2003). Mitochondrial Dysfunction and Reactive Oxygen Species in Excitotoxicity and Apoptosis: Implications for the Pathogenesis of Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Neurochemical Research, 28*(10), 1563-1574. doi:10.1023/A:1025682611389
- Rodriguez-Enriquez, S., Kim, I., Currin, R. T., & Lemasters, J. J. (2006). Tracker Dyes to Probe Mitochondrial Autophagy (Mitophagy) in Rat Hepatocytes. *Autophagy,*

*2*(1), 39-46.

- Ryan, B. J., Hoek, S., Fon, E. A., & Wade-Martins, R. (2015). Mitochondrial dysfunction and mitophagy in Parkinson's: from familial to sporadic disease. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences, 40*(4), 200-210. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/i.tibs.2015.02.003</u>
- Sai, Y., Wu, Q., Le, W., Ye, F., Li, Y., & Dong, Z. (2008). Rotenone-induced PC12 cell toxicity is caused by oxidative stress resulting from altered dopamine metabolism. *Toxicology in Vitro, 22*(6), 1461-1468. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tiv.2008.04.019</u>
- Saifah E, S. R., Patarapanich C, Laungchonlatan S, Tantisira MH, Tantisira B. (2009). *Preparation methods of colorless mixture between madecassoside and asiaticoside from Centella asiatica.*, Department of Intellectual Property MoC ed. C07H 1/00 ed , Bangkok, Thailand.
- Sarkar, S., Raymick, J., & Imam, S. (2016). Neuroprotective and Therapeutic Strategies against Parkinson's Disease: Recent Perspectives. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 17(6), 904. doi:10.3390/ijms17060904
- Schapira, A. H. V. (2006). The importance of LRRK2 mutations in Parkinson disease. Archives Of Neurology, 63(9), 1225-1228.
- Schapira, A. H. V., Cooper, J. M., Dexter, D., Clark, J. B., Jenner, P., & Marsden, C. D. (1990). Mitochondrial Complex I Deficiency in Parkinson's Disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*, 54(3), 823-827. doi:10.1111/j.1471-4159.1990.tb02325.x
- Sharma, N., & Nehru, B. (2013). Beneficial Effect of Vitamin E in Rotenone Induced Model of PD: Behavioural, Neurochemical and Biochemical Study. *Exp Neurobiol, 22*(3), 214-223.
- Sharma, S., Gupta, R., & Thakur, S. C. (2014). Attenuation of Collagen Induced Arthritis by Centella asiatica Methanol Fraction via Modulation of Cytokines and Oxidative Stress. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences, 27*(12), 926-938. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3967/bes2014.133</u>
- Sharma, S., Singh, S., Sharma, V., Singh, V. P., & Deshmukh, R. (2015). Neurobiology of l DOPA induced dyskinesia and the novel therapeutic strategies. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy*, 70(0), 283-293.

## doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2015.01.029

- Sherer, T. B., Betarbet, R., Stout, A. K., Lund, S., Baptista, M., Panov, A. V., . . . Greenamyre, J. T. (2002). An in vitro model of Parkinson's disease: Linking mitochondrial impairment to altered **α**-synuclein metabolism and oxidative damage. *Journal of Neuroscience, 22*(16), 7006-7015.
- Sherer, T. B., Kim, J.-H., Betarbet, R., & Greenamyre, J. T. (2003a). Subcutaneous Rotenone Exposure Causes Highly Selective Dopaminergic Degeneration and **α**-Synuclein Aggregation. *Experimental Neurology, 179*(1), 9-16. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/expr.2002.8072</u>
- Sherer, T. B., Kim, J. H., Betarbet, R., & Greenamyre, J. T. (2003b). Subcutaneous rotenone exposure causes highly selective dopaminergic degeneration and α-synuclein aggregation. *Experimental Neurology*, 179(1), 9-16. doi:10.1006/exnr.2002.8072
- Simon-Sanchez, J., Schulte, C., Bras, J. M., Sharma, M., Gibbs, J. R., & Berg, D. (2009). Genome-wide association study reveals genetic risk underlying Parkinson's disease. *Nat Genet, 41*. doi:10.1038/ng.487
- Smirnova, L., Harris, G., Delp, J., Valadares, M., Pamies, D., Hogberg, H. T., . . . Hartung, T. (2016). A LUHMES 3D dopaminergic neuronal model for neurotoxicity testing allowing long-term exposure and cellular resilience analysis. *Archives of toxicology*, *90*(11), 2725-2743. doi:10.1007/s00204-015-1637-z
- Sochocka, M., Diniz, B. S., & Leszek, J. (2017). Inflammatory Response in the CNS: Friend or Foe? *Molecular Neurobiology, 54*(10), 8071-8089. doi:10.1007/s12035-016-0297-1
- Somboonwong, J., Kankaisre, M., Tantisira, B., & Tantisira, M. H. (2012). Wound healing activities of different extracts of Centella asiatica in incision and burn wound models: an experimental animal study. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 12*(1), 103. doi:10.1186/1472-6882-12-103
- Soumyanath, A., Zhong, Y.-P., Henson, E., Wadsworth, T., Bishop, J., Gold, B. G., & Quinn, J. F. (2012). Centella asiatica Extract Improves Behavioral Deficits in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease: Investigation of a Possible Mechanism of Action.

International Journal of Alzheimer's Disease, 2012, 9. doi:10.1155/2012/381974

- Sriram, K., S. Pai, K., R. Boyd, M., & Ravindranath, V. (1997). *Evidence for generation of oxidative stress in brain by MPTP: In vitro and in vivo studies in mice* (Vol. 749).
- Sun, T., Liu, B., & Li, P. (2015). Nerve Protective Effect of Asiaticoside against Ischemia-Hypoxia in Cultured Rat Cortex Neurons. *Medical science monitor : international medical journal of experimental and clinical research, 21*, 3036-3041. doi:10.12659/MSM.894024
- Tantisira, M. H., Tantisira, B., Patarapanich, C., Suthisri, R., Luangcholatan, S., Mingmalailak, S., . . . Saifah, E. (2010). Effect of a Standardized Extract of Centella asiatica ECa233 on Learning and Memory Impairment Induced by Transient Bilateral Common Carotid Atery Occlusion in Mice. *Thai J Pharmacol,* 32, P.22.
- Testa, C. M., Sherer, T. B., & Greenamyre, J. T. (2005). Rotenone induces oxidative stress and dopaminergic neuron damage in organotypic substantia nigra cultures. *Molecular Brain Research, 134*(1), 109-118. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.molbrainres.2004.11.007</u>
- Tewari, D., Mukhopadhyay, M., Nekkanti, M. S., Vallabhaneni, S., Sahu, G., Jetti, S. K., . . . Bera, A. K. (2016). Cytoprotective effect of Centella asiatica is mediated through the modulation of mitochondrial voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC) and scavenging of free radicals. *Journal of Functional Foods, 21*, 301-311. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jff.2015.11.047
- Thai-FDA. (2012). National List of Essential Medicines, 2012 Thailand.
- Tieu, K. (2011). A Guide to Neurotoxic Animal Models of Parkinson's Disease. *Cold Spring Harbor Perspectives in Medicine:, 1*(1), a009316. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a009316
- Vaidya, A. (1997). The status and scope of Indian medicinal plants acting on central nervous system. *Indian Journal of Pharmacology, 29*(5), 340-343.
- Veerendra Kumar, M. H., & Gupta, Y. K. (2002). Effect of different extracts of Centella asiatica on cognition and markers of oxidative stress in rats. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 79(2), 253-260. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0378-</u>

## <u>8741(01)00394-4</u>

- Vila, M., & Przedborski, S. (2003). Targeting programmed cell death in neurodegenerative diseases. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *4*, 365. doi:10.1038/nrn1100
- Wanakhachornkrai, O., Pongrakhananon, V., Chunhacha, P., Wanasuntronwong, A.,
   Vattanajun, A., Tantisira, B., . . . Tantisira, M. H. (2013). Neuritogenic effect of
   standardized extract of Centella asiatica ECa233 on human neuroblastoma cells.
   *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 13*(1), 204. doi:10.1186/1472-6882-13-204
- Wanasuntronwong, A., Tantisira, M. H., Tantisira, B., & Watanabe, H. (2012). Anxiolytic effects of standardized extract of Centella asiatica (ECa 233) after chronic immobilization stress in mice. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 143(2), 579-585. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2012.07.010</u>
- Wang, Q., Liu, Y., & Zhou, J. (2015). Neuroinflammation in Parkinson's disease and its potential as therapeutic target. *Translational Neurodegeneration, 4*(1), 19. doi:10.1186/s40035-015-0042-0
- Wang, W., Wu, L., Li, Q., Zhang, Z., Xu, L., Lin, C., . . . Jiang, W. (2018). Madecassoside prevents acute liver failure in LPS/D-GalN-induced mice by inhibiting p38/NF-**K**B and activating Nrf2/HO-1 signaling. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy, 103,* 1137-1145. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biopha.2018.04.162</u>
- Wattanatorn, J., Mator, L., Muchimapura, S., Tongun, T., Pasuriwong, O., Piyawatkul, N., .
   . Singkhoraard, J. (2008). Positive modulation of cognition and mood in the healthy elderly volunteer following the administration of Centella asiatica. J Ethnopharmacol, 116. doi:10.1016/j.jep.2007.11.038
- Wijeweera, P., Arnason, J. T., Koszycki, D., & Merali, Z. (2006). Evaluation of anxiolytic properties of Gotukola (Centella asiatica) extracts and asiaticoside in rat behavioral models. *Phytomedicine, 13*(9–10), 668-676. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2006.01.011</u>
- Winklhofer, K. F., & Haass, C. (2010). Mitochondrial dysfunction in Parkinson's disease. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Molecular Basis of Disease, 1802(1), 29-44. doi:<u>http://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbadis.2009.08.013</u>
- Wrangel, C. v., Schwabe, K., John, N., Krauss, J. K., & Alam, M. (2015). The rotenoneinduced rat model of Parkinson's disease: Behavioral and electrophysiological findings. *Behavioural Brain Research, 279*(0), 52-61. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.bbr.2014.11.002</u>
- Wu, F., Xu, H. D., Guan, J. J., Hou, Y. S., Gu, J. H., Zhen, X. C., & Qin, Z. H. (2015).
  Rotenone impairs autophagic flux and lysosomal functions in Parkinson's disease. *Neuroscience*, 284, 900-911. doi:<u>http://doi.org/10.1016/i.neuroscience.2014.11.004</u>
- Xiong, N., Xiong, J., Jia, M., Liu, L., Zhang, X., Chen, Z., . . . Wang, T. (2013). The role of autophagy in Parkinson's disease: rotenone-based modeling. *Behavioral and Brain Functions, 9*(1), 13. doi:10.1186/1744-9081-9-13
- Xiong, Y., Ding, H., Xu, M., & Gao, J. (2009). Protective Effects of Asiatic Acid on Rotenone- or H2O2-Induced Injury in SH-SY5Y Cells. *Neurochemical Research*, *34*(4), 746-754. doi:10.1007/s11064-008-9844-0
- Xu, C.-L., Qu, R., Zhang, J., Li, L.-F., & Ma, S.-P. (2013). Neuroprotective effects of madecassoside in early stage of Parkinson's disease induced by MPTP in rats. *Fitoterapia, 90,* 112-118. doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.fitote.2013.07.009</u>
- Xu, C.-L., Wang, Q.-Z., Sun, L.-M., Li, X.-M., Deng, J.-M., Li, L.-F., . . . Ma, S.-P. (2012).
  Asiaticoside: Attenuation of neurotoxicity induced by MPTP in a rat model of Parkinsonism via maintaining redox balance and up-regulating the ratio of Bcl-2/Bax. *Pharmacology Biochemistry and Behavior, 100*(3), 413-418. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.pbb.2011.09.014
- Xu, J., Kao, S.-Y., Lee, F. J. S., Song, W., Jin, L.-W., & Yankner, B. A. (2002). Dopaminedependent neurotoxicity of **α**-synuclein: A mechanism for selective neurodegeneration in Parkinson disease. *Nature Medicine*, 8, 600. doi:10.1038/nm0602-600
- Yuan, Y.-h., Yan, W.-f., Sun, J.-d., Huang, J.-y., Mu, Z., & Chen, N.-H. (2015). The molecular mechanism of rotenone-induced **α**-synuclein aggregation: Emphasizing the role of the calcium/GSK3**β** pathway. *Toxicology Letters, 233*(2), 163-171. doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.toxlet.2014.11.029

- Zhang, J.-G., Tirmenstein, M. A., Nicholls-Grzemski, F. A., & Fariss, M. W. (2001).
  Mitochondrial Electron Transport Inhibitors Cause Lipid Peroxidation-Dependent and -Independent Cell Death: Protective Role of Antioxidants. Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics, 393(1), 87-96.
  doi:<u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1006/abbi.2001.2486</u>
- Zimprich, A., Biskup, S., Leitner, P., Lichtner, P., Farrer, M., Lincoln, S., . . . Gasser, T. (2004). Mutations in LRRK2 Cause Autosomal-Dominant Parkinsonism with Pleomorphic Pathology. *Neuron*, *44*(4), 601-607. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2004.11.005</u>



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY



# APPENDIX 1

# Animal Use Certificate

Animal Use Protocol No. 15-33		0	
Animal Use Protocol No. 15-33-004		Approval No. 15-33-004	
rotocol Title leuro- and hepatoprotective effects of stand	ardized extract of Centella	a asiatica ECa233 in rotenor	ne-induced
arkinsonism rat model			10
incipal investigator			
atchanee RODSIRI, PhD			
pplicant Faculty/Institution aculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalon KK-THAILAND. 10330	gkorn University, Phyath	ai Road., Pathumwan	
ignature of Chairperson	Signature of A	uthorized Official	
The Rit.	Pom cho	i Rojeittersk.	51. 1
ame and Title HONGCHAI SOOKSAWATE, Ph.D. hairman	Name and Title PORNCHAI F Associate Dea	OJSITTHISAK, Ph.D. n (Research and Academ	ic Service)
The official signing above certifies that the info vestigators will take responsibility, and follow unive	rmation provided on this form rsity regulations and policies	is correct. The institution assur for the care and use of animals.	mes that

## **APPENDIX 2**

## Publication





Fig. 1. Treatment groups and experimental timeline.

Therefore, the protection of mitochondria function is one of the neuroprotective approaches in Parkinson's disease. *Centella asiatica* (Apiaceae) is a medicinal plant widely used in South

Centella asiatica (Apiaceae) is a medicinal plant widely used in South East Asia. The major active compounds of *C. asiatica* are madecassoside and asiaticoside (Günther and Wagner, 1996). Various pharmacological effects of *C. asiatica* are strate thave been reported, including antioxidant (Gananpragasam et al., 2004), anti-inflammatory (Ramesh et al., 2014) and neuroprotective effects against 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetra-hydropyridine (MPTP) toxicity (Haleagrahara and Ponnusamy, 2010). Since the crude extracts of *C. asiatica* may vary in their compositions, contributing to the variation of pharmacological response, ECa233, a standardized extract of *C. asiatica* may vary in their compositions, contributing to the variation of pharmacological response, ECa233, a standardized extract of *C. asiatica*, has been established (Saifah et al., 2009). ECa233 consists of madecassoside and asiaticoside in concentration of 80% or more, and the ratio between madecassoside and asiaticoside is 1.5 ( $\pm$  0.5):1 (Anukunwithaya et al., 2017b; Saifah et al., 2009). ECa233 exhibited pharmacological effects in *vitro* (Wanakhachorukrai et al., 2012) and neuroprotective effects in mice (Wanasuntronwong et al., 2012) and neuroprotective affects in mice study, the neuroprotective effects and the underlying mechanisms of ECa233 have been investigated in parkinsonism rats induced by rote-none.

## Materials and methods

## Chemicals and reagents

The standardized extract of *Centella asiatica* ECa233 was prepared by a patent-pending method (Saiffah et.al., 2009) and provided by Siam Herbal Innovation Co., Ltd. (Samutprakan, Thailand). The contents of madecassoside (52%) and asiaticoside (41%) were quantified by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC/MS/MS). Rotenone, apomorphine, carboxymethylcellulose (CMC), paraformaldehyde (PFA), 1,1,3,3-tetraethoxypropane (TEP), phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride (PMSP), sodium orthovanadate and non-fat dry milk were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) was purchased from Fisher Scientific (Loughborough, UK). Hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) was purchased from Ajax Finechem (Auckland, New Zealand). Rabbit monoclonal anti-SOD and anti-eatlase antibodies were obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology (Santa Cruz, CA, USA). Mouse monoclonal anti-TH, anti-GAPDH, anti-goat biotinconjugated antibody and horseradish peroxidase (HRP)-conjugated goat anti-rabbit IgG antibodies were purchased from Millipore (Billerica, MA, USA).

## Animals

Male Wistar rats, 8-week old, (National Laboratory Animal Center, Mahidol University, Thailand) were housed in groups of 3 under controlled temperature (24  $\pm$  2°C) and relative humidity (60  $\pm$  10%) conditions with a 12-h light/dark cycle. Food and water were provided *al libitum*. Animal experiments were carried out in accordance with the Ethical Principles and Guidelines for the Use of Animals for Scientific Purposes of the National Research Council of Thailand. The animal protocol was approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University, Thailand (approval number 15-33-004).

#### Experimental design

66

Rats were divided into 5 groups (n = 10/group); control, rotenoneinduced parkinsonism (PD), and rotenone-induced parkinsonism cotreated with ECa233 in concentrations of 10, 30 or 100 mg/kg (PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100, respectively). Rats in the control and PD groups received 0.5% CMC (1 mL/kg p.o.), while rats in PD-ECa groups received various doses of ECa233 once daily for 20 days. From day 15 to 20, rotenone (2.5 mg/kg i.p.) was given to rats in PD, PD-ECa10, PD-ECa30 and PD-ECa100 groups, while rats in the control group received 2% DMSO in sunflower oil (Fig. 1). Locomotor activity test was performed on days 1, 14, 17 and 20.

Locomotor activity test was performed on days 1, 14, 17 and 20. Apomorphine challenge was assessed on day 21. On days 22, rats were euthanized using pentobarbital (100 mg/kg i.p.). Five rats per group were transcardially perfused with PBS followed by 4% PFA. Brains were then kept in 4% PFA for further histological investigation. Brains of the remaining rats (n = 5/group) were quickly removed and cut sagittally. Brain mitochondria were prepared from left brain hemispheres and mitochondrial complex 1 activity was measured. Right brain hemispheres were kept at -80 °C for further analysis of malondialdehyde (MDA) levels and superoxide dismutase (SOD) and catalase protein expression.





## Treatment

Fig. 3. Apomorphine challenge was tested on day 21. Rats received apomorphine (0.5 mg/kg s.c.). Locomotor activity was tested 5 min later. The travelled distances on days 20 and 21 were compared. \*p < 0.05, \*\*p < 0.01 compared to the same experimental group on day 20.</p>

## Mitochondrial complex I activity assay

Brain mitochondria extraction and mitochondrial complex I enzyme activity measurement were performed according to the manufacturer's instruction of Complex I enzyme activity was measured using the kinetic mode of microplate reader (SpectraMax\* M5, Molecular Devices, CA, USA) at an OD 450 nm for 30 min. The activity was normalized by mg of total protein by Bradford assay.

## Lipid peroxidation

Lipid peroxidation was determined using the thiobarbituric acid reactive species (TBARS) method (Euaruksakul et al., 2015). 1, 1, 3, 3-tetraethoxypropane (TEP), a MDA precursor, was used to create a standard curve.

## Western blotting

The expression of SOD and catalase was determined using western blot analysis. Brain pellets were lysed in lysis buffer [50 mM Tris-HQ, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 19k NP.40, 0.19k SDS, 1 mM PMSF, sodium orthovanadate and sodium fluoride]. Total protein was determined using the BCA protein assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, IL, USA). Protein samples (100 µg) were separated by 12% SDS-AGE gel clectrophoresis and electrically transferred onto a PVDF membrane. After blocking of unspecific proteins using 5% skim milk, the membranes were then incubated with the primary antibodies against SOD (1:500), catalase (1:500) and GAPDH (1:1000) at 4 °C overnight. The membranes were then incubated with HRP-conjugated secondary antibody (1:1000) at room temperature. The membranes were developed using chemiluminescence detection reagents (Thermo Fisher Scientific, IL, USA) and visualized with a luminescent image analyzer (ImageQuant" LAS 4000, GE Healthcare Bio-aciences, Japan).

#### Statistical analysis

The results were expressed as the mean  $\pm$  S.E.M. and analyzed using GraphPad Prism 7.0 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, GA, USA). One-way analysis of variance (ANOVA) followed by LSD post hoc test was used to determine the significant differences among groups. In apomorphine challenge experiment, distances were compared using a dependent k-test. P < 0.05 was considered significantly different.

#### Results

#### Locomotor activity

The locomotor activities of all rats did not differ at baseline and at 14 days after EGa233 treatment. Rotenone treatment significantly decreased the travelled distances of PD rats compared to control rats (p < 0.001) on days 17 and 20 (Fig. 2). Interestingly, on day 20, rats in PD-EGa30 group had travelled significantly longer distances than did PD rats (p < 0.01) (Fig. 2B), indicating that EGa233 (30 mg/kg) treatment can protect against rotenone-induced motor deficits.

#### Apomorphine challenge

Apomorphine did not alter the locomotor activity of rats in the control group but significantly improved locomotor activity of rotenone-treated rats (Fig. 3). This result indicated that motor impairment induced by rotenone resulted from presynaptic degeneration of dopaminergic neurons.

## TH-positive neurons in the substantia nigra and striatum

TH-immunohistological staining was performed to illustrate the existence of dopaminergic neurons in the nigrostriatal pathway. PD rats had significantly lower, numbers of TH-positive neurons in the substantia nigra than did controls (p < 0.01), while Eca233 (30 mg/kg) treatment significantly increased the numbers of TH-positive neurons





70

## Discussion

The loss of dopaminergic neurons in the nigrostriatal pathway is the main pathological halimark of Parkinson's disease (Connolly and Lang, 2014). Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress play

important roles in the pathogenesis of Parkinson's disease (Perfeito et al., 2013). Rotenone, a mitochondria complex I inhibitor, was used to induce parkinsonism behaviors and dopaminergic neuronal death in this study. The results showed that ECa233 (30 mg/kg) alleviated ro-tenone-induced locomotor impairment and protected against dopami-nergic neuronal death. The neuroprotective mechanisms of ECa233 involved the protection of mitochondrial complex I activity, a decrease in lipid peroxidation and the elevation of antioxidant enzyme expres-tion

sion. The presence of the major compositions of ECa233, madecassoside and asiaticoside, has been reported in rat brains after ECa233



study as the number of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra and dopaminergic axon intensities in the striatum of rats in ECa233 (30 mg/kg)-treated rats was comparable to the control group (Figs. 4 and 5). It was noted that a higher dose of ECa233 (100 mg/kg) had a subtle effect in the protection of dopaminergic neurons in the substantia nigra but significantly preserved dopaminergic axon terminals in the striatum. The neuritogenic effect of ECa233 has been observed in IMR-32 neuroblastoma (Wanakhachornkraf et al., 2013). The survival of cell. bodies and axonal fibers can be mediated through separate mechanisms (Ries et al., 2008). Apart from antioxidant and mitochondria protection, the ability to promote axonal regeneration is a possible neuroprotective mechanism of ECa233.

Mitochondrial complex I reduction has been reported in the substantia nigra of Parkinson's disease patients (Schapira et al., 1990). Therefore, mitochondria toxins are used to produce Parkinson's models in vitro and in vivo (Martinez and Greenamyre, 2012). In vitro studies chanisms contribute to cell death in Parkinson's disease (Ogurno et al., 2014). ECa233 decreased lipid peroxidation and increased antioxidant enzyme expression in rotenone models. This finding is in agreement with previous studies, which reported the antioxidative effects of *C. asiatica* extract, madecassoside and asiaticoside in MPTP models (Bhatnagar et al., 2017; Haleagrabara and Ponusamy, 2010; Xu et al., 2012,2013). The protection of mitochondrial function possibly contributes to the reduction of oxidative stress.

tributes to the reduction of oxidative stress. Notably, the neuroprotective effects of ECa233 occurred in a doseindependent manner. ECa233 30 mg/kg markedly alleviated rotenoneinduced toxicity, while the subtle effect of ECa233 100 mg/kg was presented. The roles of efflux transporters may explain this observation as madecassoside is a substrate of p-glycoprotein and multi-drug-resistant protein (Leng et al., 2013). In addition, asiatic acid, a component of *C. asiatica* extract and a metabolite of asiaticoside, induced p-glycoprotein expression *in vitro* (Abuznait et al., 2011). Recently,



## N. Teerapattarakan et al.

promising candidate for Parkinson's disease treatment. However, fur-ther pharmacokinetic studies with repeated administration as well as synergistic pharmacodynamic effects of ECa233 should be conducted to fully clarify the dose-independent effects and other underlying mechanisms of ECa233.

#### Acknowledgments

This work was supported by the Ratchadapiseksomphot Endowment fund of Chulalongkorn University (CU57-072-AS). We are grateful for the 100th Anniversary http://dx.doi.org/10.13039/501100002873 fund for doctoral scholarship for funding Narudol Teerapattarakan. We also express our gratitude for the facilities provided by Drug and Health Products Innovation Promotion Center, Faculty of Pharmaceutical Sciences, Chulalongkorn University.

## Conflict of interest

The authors declare that there is no conflict of interest.

## References

- Abazmait, A.H., Qosa, H., O'Connell, N.D., Akbarian-Tefaghi, J., Sylvester, P.W., Sayed, K.A.L., Kaddoumi, A., 2011. Induction of expression and functional activity of P-aphroprotein efflux transporter by bioactive plant natural products. Food Chem. Andumenthyse, T., Tamizz, M.H., Shimada, T., Yoshimichi, S., Khemawoot, P., 2017a. Multiple onal dosing pharmacohinetics of standardized extract of Centella statistic ECo233 and theory effect on efflux transporters in rate, Planta Med. Int. Open. Anthurnethyse, T. Tamizz.
- 6-er23. itbaya, T., Tantisira, M.H., Tantisira, B., Khemawoot, P., 2017b. macokinetics of a standardized extract of *Centella asiatica* ECa 233 in rats. Planta Ar
- akunwimaya, Pharmaokinetics of a standardized extract of Centents tossess Med. 83, 710–717. Itangari, M., Goei, I, Roy, T., Shukla, S.D., Khurana, S., 2017. Complete Comparison Itangari, M., Goei, I, Roy, T., Shukla, S.D., Khurana, S., 2017. Complete Comparison Infers shows that they can non-symprepticitically ameliarest biochemical and beha-vioural damages in MPTP induced Parkinson's model of mice. PLoS One 12 (3), Networks.
- vioural damages in MPTD induced Parkinson's model of mice. PLoS One 12 (5), e0177254.
  Rian, D., Liu, M., Li, Y., Xia, Y., Gong, Z., Dai, Y., 2012. Madecassoside, a triterpenoid isponin isolated from Centella usatito herbs, protects endothelial cells against oxi-dative stress. J. Biochem. Mol. Toxicel. 26 (10), 399–406.
  Crannelly, B.S., Lang, A.E., 2014. Pharmacological treatment of Parkinson disease a re-view. JAMA 311 (6), 1570–1683.
  Duty, S., Jenner, P., 2011. Animal models of Parkinson's disease: a source of novel treatments and clues to the cause of the disease. Br. J. Pharmacol. 164 (6), 1357–1301.

- treatments and clues to the cause of the disease. Br. J. Pharmacol. 164 (4), 1357-1397.
  1357-1397.
  Fanavakarkul, P., Tansawar, R., Rodsiri, R., 2015. Ginseng extract G115 improves loco-motor function in roteon-rohudued parkhonsime rats via an antioxidant effect. Songhlannkarin J. Sci. Technol. 37 (2), 163-169.
  Ginanpergasam, A., Benezar, K. K., Suthuki, V., Gwoindarziju, P., Devaki, T., 2004.
  Protective effect of *Contella* asiatica on antioxidant tissue defense system against adriamytin induced cardiomyopathy in rats. LIF Sci. 7 (5), 555-597.
  Ginther, B., Wagner, H., 1990. Quantitative determination of triteprenes in extracts and phytopreparations of *Contella* asiation (1). Universe effect of *Contella* ausinice extract: (CAE) on experimentally induced parkinsonism in aged Sprague-Daviey rats. J. Texicol. Sci. 35 (1), 41-47.

73

### Phytomedicine 44 (2018) 65-73

- 90, 112-118. Restartion and a statement induced in MPTP in rats. Pitoterapia Xu, C-L, Wang, Q-Z, Sun, L-M, Li, X-M, Deng, J-M, Li, L-F, Zhang, J, Xu, R, Ma, S-P, 2012. Assisticated attenuation of neurototricity induced by MPTP in a rat model of Parkinsonian via maintaining redor balance and up-regulating the ratio of Bci-2/Bax. Pharmacol. Biochem. Behav. 100, 413–418.
  Zhang, H., Bai, L., He, J., Zhong, L., Duan, X., Ouyang, L., Zhu, Y., Wang, T., Zhang, Y., Shi, J., 2017. Recent advances in discovery and development of natural products as source for anti-Parkinson's disease lead compounds. Eur. J. Med. Chem. 141, 257–272.

# VITA

NAME	Narudol Teerapattarakan
DATE OF BIRTH	25 June 1990
PLACE OF BIRTH	Chonburi
INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED	- Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand, 2014 - 2019
	Doctor of Philosophy in Pharmacology
	- 6 M 1 1 2 2
	- Mae Fah Luang University, Chiang Rai, Thailand, 2012
-	Bachelor of Applied Thai Traditional Medicine
HOME ADDRESS	71/3 Pala Banchang Rayong 21130
PUBLICATION	Teerapattarakan, N., Benya-aphikul, H., Tansawat, R.,
al and a second s	Wanakhachornkrai, O., Tantisira, M. H., & Rodsiri, R. (2018).
	Neuroprotective effect of a standardized extract of
	Centella asiatica ECa233 in rotenone-induced
	parkinsonism rats. Phytomedicine, 44, 65-
-	73.doi:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phymed.2018.04.028
AWARD RECEIVED	The Excellent Poster Presentation Award (Molecular
	Research) at the 41st Pharmacological and Therapeutic
	Society of Thailand Meeting "Herbal and Complementary
	Medicine Innovation: East Meets West"